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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02264 
CASE NAME: MACKIE VS GOLDMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT; ALTERNATIVE SUMMARY 
ADJUDICATION FILED BY LAURA MACKIE, MICHAEL HAGUE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Denied as moot. See Line 4. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02264 
CASE NAME: MACKIE VS GOLDMAN 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appearances required (by telephone). 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02264 
CASE NAME: MACKIE VS GOLDMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL FILED BY BRIAN 
GOLDMAN MD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. Counsel is directed to serve a copy of the order granting the motion on the parties, and 
to file proof of service of the order with the court.  The withdrawal will not take effect until proof 
of service of the order is filed with the court. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02264 
CASE NAME: MACKIE VS GOLDMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY HANOVER 
INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is Intervener Hanover Insurance Company, Inc. (“Intervener” or “Hanover”)’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment, or in the Alternative, Summary Adjudication (“MSJ”). The MSJ 

relates to Plaintiff Laura Mackie and Plaintiff Michael Hague (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) Second 

Amended Complaint (“SAC”) for (1) negligent hiring and retention and (2) general negligence 

against Defendant Brian Goldman, MD, a Medical Corporation (“Goldman Inc.”).  

For the following reasons, Hanover’s MSJ is granted. 
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At the outset, the Court also notes several defects with respect to Plaintiffs’ opposition papers. 

First, the opposition exceeds the 20 page limit of Rule 3.1113(d) without leave of Court. Second, 

a memorandum that exceeds 10 pages must include a table of contents and a table of 

authorities. (CRC 3.1113(f).) A memorandum that exceeds 15 pages must also include an 

opening summary of argument. (Id.) Plaintiffs’ twenty-seven page opposition has none of these. 

Finally, Plaintiffs’ list of exhibits in support of their opposition to Intervener’s MSJ (and exhibits 

thereto) are printed double sided, in violation of CRC 2.102 [“When papers are not filed 

electronically, only one side of each page may be used.”]. Plaintiffs are directed to comply with 

the Rules of Court in all future filings or risk monetary sanctions. 

General Factual Background 

This case arises out of an incident where Decedent (Kimberly Goldman) struck Plaintiffs and Dr. 

Goldman with her car following a family law hearing on November 7, 2016. (Ptffs. UMF 66-74.) 

She then committed suicide. (Intrv. UMF 49.) Plaintiffs voluntarily attended the divorce hearing 

for the purpose of providing emotional support for Dr. Goldman. (Intrv. UMF 46.) Plaintiffs do not 

materially dispute that Decedent was Dr. Goldman’s wife. (Intrv. UMF 5.) 

Decedent was an employee of Goldman, Inc. since its inception. (Laura Mackie Depo. at 60:11-

13.) Decedent’s job title varied from office administrator, office manager, to assistant secretary. 

(Id. at 60:23-61:7.) There is little evidence before the Court regarding decedent’s specific duties 

at Goldman Inc., but Dr. Goldman testified in his recorded interview that “she, basically, took 

care of all the business and the finances and … all the accounts and the insurance policy with 

[Hanover Insurance Company].” (Intrv. Appx. Ex. 6: Goldman Statement, at p.8.) Decedent 

rarely worked from the Goldman Inc. office. (Id. at p.9.) 

Decedent originally retained Plaintiff Laura Mackie as an independent contractor, to perform risk 

management services to remedy a HIPAA breach at Goldman Inc. (Ptffs. UMF 36; Intrv. UMF 

20.) The underlying HIPAA breach was the theft of two Goldman Inc. laptops with confidential 

patient information from Dr. Goldman’s car. (Ptffs. UMF 41.) The data breach occurred on or 

about July 7, 2016 and was reported to Hanover on or about July 19, 2016. (Pltffs. UMF 45; 

Intrv. UMF 19.) It is undisputed that Plaintiff Laura Mackie discovered financial malfeasance of 

Decedent in her assessment of Goldman Inc.’s finances. (Ptffs. UMF 51, 52; Intrv. UMF 24) As 

a consequence, Plaintiff Laura Mackie terminated decedent’s access to Goldman Inc.’s financial 

accounts. (Pltfs. UMF 54; Intvnr. UMF 27) Goldman Inc. also subsequently changed the locks to 

its physical office. (Intvnr. UMF 30.)  

Decedent filed for divorce during early October 2016. (Pltfs. UMF 65.) The parties dispute 

whether at the time decedent filed for divorce she had moved to Texas or was merely visiting 

Texas (see, e.g., Intvr. DMF 42.) The parties also dispute whether Decedent continued to be 

employed while in Texas, although the evidence reflects that Decedent was performing some 

work while out of state. (See Intvr. Appx. Ex. 6: Goldman Statement at p. 7 [“Q: … So she, she 

was still helping to manage your, the corporate finances from Texas? A: Yes.”]; see also id. [“Q: 

And did she actually get a paycheck fo-, from you for what work she did? A: Um, she took, like, 

what she called an owner’s draw from the corporate account, which, uh, I was told is not correct. 
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You’re supposed to pay your taxes and do it through payroll.”].) There is also testimony from 

Plaintiff Laura Mackie that Decedent had not been officially fired. (Mackie Depo. At 76:17-19 [“I 

could never get [Dr. Goldman] to officially fire her. I did ask him. On several occasions, I said, 

‘You need to fire her.’ But he wouldn’t do it.”) 

Standard 

“[A]ny party to an action, whether plaintiff or defendant, ‘may move’ the court ‘for summary 

judgment’ in his favor. . . .” (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 843 

(Aguilar).) “The purpose of the law of summary judgment is to provide courts with a mechanism 

to cut through the parties’ pleadings in order to determine whether, despite their allegations, trial 

is in fact necessary to resolve their dispute.” (Ibid.) “Summary judgment is appropriate only 

‘where no triable issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a 

matter of law.’ [Citation.] A [party] seeking summary judgment must show that the plaintiff 

cannot establish at least one element of the cause of action. [Citation.]” (Regents of University 

of California. v. Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 607, 618 (Regents).) 

Thus, a party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of persuasion 

demonstrating “there is no issue requiring a trial as to any fact that is necessary under the 

pleadings and, ultimately, the law.” (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 843.) A party meets this 

burden by “present[ing] evidence which, if uncontradicted, would constitute a preponderance of 

evidence that an essential element of the plaintiff’s case cannot be established.” (Kids’ Universe 

v. In2Labs (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 870, 879; cf. Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 618 [“A [party] 

seeking summary judgment must show that the plaintiff cannot establish at least one element of 

the cause of action”].) Once the [party] has met that burden, the burden shifts to the [plaintiff] to 

show that a triable issue of one or more material facts exists as to the cause of action.” (Code of 

Civil Procedure, § 437c, subd. (p)(1) & (2); Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 850.) 

A plaintiff opposing summary judgment defeats the motion by showing one or more triable 

issues of material fact exist as to the challenged element. (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 849.) 

To do so, however, the plaintiff may not merely rely on the allegations in the complaint. (Ibid.) 

Moreover, a plaintiff cannot establish a triable issue of material fact based on inferences drawn 

from assumptions or suppositions. (Martin v. Lockheed Missiles & Space Co. (1994) 29 

Cal.App.4th 1718, 1735.) Rather, it “must present evidence including ‘affidavits, declarations, 

admissions, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and matters of which judicial notice’ must or 

may ‘be taken.’“ (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 843.) Ultimately, “[t]he court must ‘grant[]’ the 

‘motion’ ‘if all the papers submitted show’ that ‘there is no triable issue as to any material fact’ . . 

. and that the ‘moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’“ (Ibid., citations 

omitted.) 

Analysis 

“The elements of a cause of action for negligence are (1) the existence of a legal duty to use 

due care; (2) a breach of that duty; and (3) the breach as a proximate cause of the plaintiff’s 

injury. [Citation.] ‘As a practical matter, these elements are interrelated, as the question whether 

an act or omission will be considered a breach of duty or a proximate cause of injury necessarily 
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depends upon the scope of the duty imposed. . . . [Citation.]’” (Federico v. Superior Court (1997) 

59 Cal.App.4th 1207, 1210-1211 (Federico).) Consequently, to prevail in a negligence suit 

requires a plaintiff “to prove duty, breach [of that duty], causation, and damages.” (Regents, 

supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 618.) 

“‘Duty, being a question of law, is particularly amenable to resolution by summary judgment.’ 

[Citation.]” (Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 618.) Negligence, on the other hand, normally 

presents a question of fact for the jury. “However, where reasonable jurors could draw only one 

conclusion from the evidence presented, lack of negligence may be determined as a matter of 

law, and summary judgment granted.” (Federico, supra, 59 Cal.App.4th at p. 1214.) 

Generally, “one owes no duty to control the conduct of another, nor to warn those endangered 

by such conduct” unless “‘(a) a special relation exists between the actor and the third person 

which imposes a duty upon the actor to control the third person’s conduct, or (b) a special 

relation exists between the actor and the other which gives the other a right to protection.’ 

[Citations.]” (Davidson v. City of Westminster (1982) 32 Cal.3d 197, 203 (Davidson).) In other 

words, “‘[a] person who has not created a peril is not liable in tort merely for failure to take 

affirmative action to assist or protect another unless there is some relationship between them 

which gives rise to a duty to act.’ [Citation.]” (Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 619.) Therefore, 

“[w]here, as here, a ‘complaint alleges injuries resulting from the criminal acts of third persons . . 

. “the common law, reluctant to impose liability for nonfeasance, generally does not impose a 

duty upon a defendant to control the conduct of another [citations], or to warn of such conduct 

[citations], unless the defendant stands in some special relationship either to the person whose 

conduct needs to be controlled, or to the foreseeable victim of such conduct. [Citations.]” 

[Citation.]’“ (Roman Catholic Bishop v. Superior Court (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1556, 1564 

(Roman Catholic Bishop).) 

In the employment context, “[a]n employer may be liable to a third person for the employer’s 

negligence in hiring or retaining an employee who is incompetent or unfit. [Citation.]” (Roman 

Catholic Bishop, supra, 42 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1564-1565.) “[A]s defined by California authority 

…,” this duty “is breached only when the employer knows, or should know, facts which would 

warn a reasonable person that the employee presents an undue risk of harm to third persons in 

light of the particular work to be performed.” (Federico, supra, 59 Cal.App.4th at p. 1214 (italics 

added).) 

In Phillips v. TLC Plumbing, Inc. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1133 (Phillips), the court observed: “‘An 

[employee] . . . may be incompetent because of his reckless or vicious disposition, and if [an 

employer], without exercising due care in selection, employs a vicious person to do an act which 

necessarily brings him in contact with others while in the performance of a duty, he is subject to 

liability for harm caused by the vicious propensity . . . . [¶] One who employs another to act for 

him is not liable . . . merely because the one employed is incompetent, vicious, or careless. If 

liability results it is because, under the circumstances, the employer has not taken the care 

which a prudent man would take in selecting the person for the business in hand. . . . [¶] . . . “In 

2006, the Restatement Third of Agency was published . . . stating: ‘(1) A principal who conducts 

an activity through an agent is subject to liability for harm to a third party caused by the agent’s 
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conduct if the harm was caused by the principal’s negligence in selecting, training, retaining, 

supervising, or otherwise controlling the agent . . . .’ [Citation.] ‘Liability under this rule is limited 

by basic principles of tort law, including requirements of causation and duty.’ [Citation.] 

Furthermore, ‘[l]iability under this rule also requires some nexus or causal connection between 

the principal’s negligence in selecting or controlling an actor, the actor’s employment or work, 

and the harm suffered by the third party.’ [Citation.]” (Phillips, supra, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1140, 

italics added.) 

Here, the undisputed record shows that Decedent was never charged with or convicted of any 

violent crime and had no legal complaints or restraining orders filed against her. (Intervenor 

Exhibit 28: Lang Decl. at ¶¶ 1-6.) Furthermore, there is no admissible evidence of violent acts by 

the Decedent prior to the incident on November 7, 2016 (see evidentiary objections, below). 

Even assuming arguendo that the testimony regarding alleged violent acts against family 

members were admissible, notably there is no evidence of violent acts by Decedent in the 

workplace. With respect to Dr. Goldman’s testimony regarding Decedent’s mental state, while 

not necessarily lay testimony in light of his professional qualifications, his personal opinion that 

she was “mentally unstable, suicidal and often threatening” (Goldman Decl. at ¶ 17) is not 

dispositive of this issue either. This testimony is also of limited value given that it is not a 

conclusion reached after extensive psychiatric examination; it is the lay opinion of a husband 

(who happens to be a licensed psychiatrist) about his wife. 

Goldman Inc.’s alleged negligence in hiring or retaining decedent as an employee is actionable 

only if it created an undue risk of harm to others when viewed in light of the work Decedent was 

hired to perform. (Federico, supra, 59 Cal.App.4th at p. 1214.) “An employer is not charged with 

guaranteeing the safety of anyone his employee might incidentally meet while on the job against 

injuries inflicted independent of the performance of work-related functions. Rather, . . . liability 

for negligence can be imposed only when the employer knows, or should know, that the 

employee, because of past behavior or other factors, is unfit for the specific tasks to be 

performed.” (Federico, supra, 59 Cal.App.4th at p. 1215, italics added.) Thus, Goldman Inc., 

was not a blanket guarantor of the safety of all persons, including other employees, who 

Decedent may have incidentally met while working as office administrator / office manager / 

assistant secretary for Goldman Inc. Plaintiffs provide no authority suggesting otherwise; in fact, 

Plaintiffs fail to meaningfully engage with most of Intervenor’s authority in opposition, including 

Federico. 

Here, Goldman Inc. could be held liable for Decedent’s negligent hiring only if it knew, or should 

have known, Decedent was unfit to perform the work for which she was hired, i.e., as office 

manager for Goldman, Inc. Imposition of any further responsibility requires Plaintiffs to 

demonstrate that Goldman Inc. owed them an additional duty to use due care in the hiring and 

retention of Decedent as regards to extramural, nonwork related activities involving its 

employees. They have not done so. 

Assuming arguendo Goldman Inc. owed an additional duty of care, Plaintiffs also failed to 

establish a causal nexus between Goldman Inc.’s supposed negligent hiring and retention of 

Decedent and her subsequent assault of Plaintiffs. In Phillips, supra, returning to the 
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Restatement Third of Agency, the court stated there must be “‘some nexus or causal connection 

between the principal’s negligence in selecting or controlling an actor, the actor’s employment or 

work, and the harm suffered by the third party.’ [Citation.] . . . . ‘Likewise, when the actor’s tort 

occurs in the course of an extramural activity unrelated to the actor’s employment, the tort may 

lack a sufficient causal relationship to the actor’s employment.’ [Citation.]” (Phillips, supra, 172 

Cal.App.4th at pp. 1145-1146, italics added.) 

As a result, in Phillips the court found “in the undisputed circumstances of this case, we doubt 

Defendants’ alleged negligent hiring and retention of [employee] was a proximate or legal cause 

of [employee’s] tortious conduct committed on [plaintiff] two years after Defendants terminated 

his employment, especially when [employee] and [plaintiff's] initial social relationship began 

outside of [employee's] employment duties and their romantic relationship did not begin until 

after his employment was terminated.” (Phillips, supra, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1146, italics 

omitted.) 

Similarly, here Plaintiffs did not show Goldman Inc.’s purported negligent hiring and retention of 

decedent was a proximate or legal cause of Decedent’s subsequent tortious conduct. Neither 

Plaintiff nor decedent were at their workplace, or even engaged in their regular work, at the time 

of the assault. While the motivation for Decedent’s assault may be disputed, it unquestionably 

took place outside of Decedent and Laura Mackie’s employment duties and responsibilities. 

Critically, “the prime concern in every case [is] foreseeability, because that factor is the chief 

element in determining a defendant's duty to [a] plaintiff.” (Newton v. Kaiser Foundation 

Hospitals (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 386, 389.) The “determination of foreseeability [is] to be made 

on a case-by-case basis.” (Id. at p. 390.) If considered only in the abstract, “the quest for 

foreseeability is endless because [it], like light, travels indefinitely in a vacuum.” (Id. at p. 391.) 

Thus, as to foreseeability, “the court’s task in determining duty ‘is not to decide whether a 

particular plaintiff’s injury was reasonably foreseeable in light of a particular defendant’s 

conduct, but rather to evaluate more generally whether the category of negligent conduct at 

issue is sufficiently likely to result in the kind of harm experienced that liability may appropriately 

be imposed.’ [Citations.]” (Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 772, original 

italics.) 

Prior suicidal ideation does not foreseeably indicate Decedent would someday assault a work 

colleague with her vehicle outside of a family law hearing. The foreseeability of that specific type 

of harm is simply too speculative and the causal nexus too attenuated. Plaintiffs provide no 

authority to suggest otherwise. 

The MSJ is granted. 

Evidentiary Objections 

The Court need only rule on those objections to evidence that were material to the disposition of 

the MSJ. (See CCP § 437c(q).) 

Intervener makes several objections to evidence on reply; the Court rules on them as follows: 
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1. Objection to Plaintiffs’ Response to Intervener’s UMF 51 [starting with “A suicidal 

person” and ending with “her car.”]: Sustained. Lack of foundation. Evid. Code 

§§ 403(a), 702, 802. 

2. Objection to Plaintiffs’ Response to Intervener’s UMF 52 [events 3 – 8]: 

Sustained. Hearsay without exception. Evid. Code § 1200. 

The Court rules on Plaintiffs’ objections as follows: 

Objection to Intervener’s UMF No. 5 is overruled; “decedent” is not vague and ambiguous. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00662 
CASE NAME: MICHELLE DAVIS VS PETSMART INC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION 
SETTLMENT FILED BY KRISTINA CLARK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Plaintiffs Michelle Davis, Kristina Clark, Kelsey Nelson-Stark and Marie Riley move for 
preliminary approval of their class action and PAGA settlement with defendant PetSmart, Inc.   

A. Background and Settlement Terms 

The original complaint was filed Davis, Nelson-Stark and Riley on March 29, 2019, under 
PAGA only, an alleging only a claim for failure to provide suitable seating.  On May 15, 2019, 
Clark filed a class action alleging various violations of wage and hour requirements, as well as a 
suitable seating claim.  On January 3, 2020, Clark filed a First Amended complaint also adding a 
PAGA claim.  That matter was removed to federal Court, a Second amended Complaint was 
filed, and the case was remanded to this court. The two cases were consolidated, by stipulation 
and order, on August 2, 2021. 

The settlement would create a gross settlement fund of $6,000,000.  The class 
representative payment to each plaintiff would be $7,000.  Counsel’s attorney’s fees would be 
$2,000,000 (33 1/3% of the settlement).  Litigation costs would not exceed $35,000.  The 
settlement administrator (Simpluris) would have costs of administration set aside of $36,000.  
PAGA penalties would be $400,000, resulting in a payment of $300,000 to the LWDA and 
$100,000 to the class members.  Thus, the net settlement amount available to the class would 
be $$4,498,000, resulting in an average payment to each of the estimated 8,598 class members 
of about $523.  The fund is non-reversionary.  The payments will be allocated 80% to penalties 
and interest and 20% to wages.  Payroll taxes will be paid separately by PetSmart. 

PetSmart also agreed to implement changes in its procedures, including providing 
additional seats, posting notices in break rooms, obtaining signed acknowledgements indicating 
whether breaks were offered and taking, and configuring of the timekeeping system to flag 
missed, late, or short meal periods. 

The proposed settlement would certify a class of sales representatives and non-exempt 
employees employed by defendant in California between May 13, 2015 to the date of 
preliminary approval, excluding those who have previously settled claims in two other cases.   
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 The class members will not be required to file a claim.  Class members may object or 
opt out of the settlement.  The distribution of the PAGA payment and the “Class Member” 
payment will be based on the number of pay periods worked during the PAGA Period and Class 
Member Period, respectively.  

 Various prescribed follow-up steps will be taken with respect to mail that is returned as 
undeliverable.  Uncashed checks would be cancelled and the amounts would be tendered to the 
Unclaimed Property Division of the State Controller’s Office.     

Plaintiffs will broadly release all claims that “could have been asserted in the Lawsuit 
arising from the alleged facts and/or primary rights alleged to have been invaded to the fullest 
extent permitted by law.” The Court notes that the reference to claims “arising from the alleged 
facts” can be critical in ascertaining the extent of preclusive effect of the judgment.  (See Amaro 
v. Anaheim Arena Management, LLC (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 521, 535-536 [petition for review 
filed November 8, 2021].)  

PetSmart produced “thousands of pages of information, including time and payroll 
records of putative class members which reflect time punches at the start of employees’ shifts, 
at the beginning and end of the meal period, and at the end of the shift, as well as the applicable 
pay rates.”  (Hawkins Dec., Par. 6.)  The matter settled after extensive arms-length negotiations, 
with an experienced mediator.  The parties reached an agreement in principle about October 16, 
2020. 

Counsel also has provided quantitative analysis of the case, based on the information 
obtained during the litigation, e.g., workweeks, rates of pay, and random sample of time records 
and wage statements.  The estimated number of workweeks is 383,641 and the average hourly 
rate of pay is $13.11.  Counsel estimates the maximum theoretical value (basically assuming 
that there was a violation for every employee on every shift) of the meal break claim at $9 
million, for the rest period claim at about $19 million, for failure to timely pay wages at about $19 
million, and for failure to provide accurate wage statements at $600,000.  Of course, all of these 
theoretical maxima provide a point of departure, but do not reflect an actual analysis based on 
various risks associated with the merit of the claim, evidence issues, class certification issues, 
and the burden of litigation. Thus, actual value is estimated at far lower figures, e.g., failure to 
timely pay wages is estimated at just under $1 million).  Claims for PAGA penalties, estimated 
by counsel at a theoretical maximum of $47 million, are difficult to evaluate for a number of 
reasons: they derive from other violations, they include “stacking” of violations, the law may only 
allow application of the “initial violation” penalty amount, and the total amount may be reduced in 
the discretion of the court. 

The documentation submitted with the motion does not attest that LWDA was notified of 
the settlement, or that initial pre-suit notices were filed. 

B. Legal Standards 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of 
further litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in 
settlement, the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience 
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and views of counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the 
proposed settlement.”  (See also Amaro v. Anaheim Arena Management, LLC, supra, 69 
Cal.App.5th at 534-535.) 

Because this matter also proposes to settle PAGA claims, the Court also must consider 
the criteria that apply under that statute. The Legislature’s express command that PAGA 
settlements be approved by the court necessarily implies that there is some substantive 
dimension to the review.  (Labor Code § 2699(l).)  The Court’s review, however, is somewhat 
hampered by the lack of guidance in the statute or case law concerning the basis upon which a 
settlement may be approved.  The Court has found no binding authority, but one federal District 
Court has addressed the issue.  In O’Connor v. Uber Techs, Inc. (N.D. Cal. 2016) 201 
F.Supp.3d 1110, 1133, the court denied approval of class action settlements that included 
PAGA claims in part because the plaintiffs’ claims added up to as much as $1 billion in PAGA 
penalties but parties settled those claims for $1 million, or 0.1% of their alleged maximum value.  
As the court stated, “where plaintiffs bring a PAGA representative claim, they take on a special 
responsibility to their fellow aggrieved workers who are effectively bound by any judgment. 
[citation omitted]  Such a plaintiff also owes responsibility to the public at large; they act, as the 
statute’s name suggests, as a private attorney general, and 75% of the penalties go to the 
LWDA ‘for enforcement of labor laws . . . and for education of employers and employees about 
their rights and responsibilities under this code.’”  (Id., at 1134.)  In that case, the LWDA itself 
filed a brief stating that “[i]t is thus important that when a PAGA claim is settled, the relief 
provided for under the PAGA be genuine and meaningful, consistent with the underlying 
purpose of the statute to benefit the pubic and, in the context of a class action, the court 
evaluate whether the settlement meets the standards of being ‘fundamentally fair, reasonable, 
and adequate’ with reference to the public policies underlying the PAGA.”  (Id., at 1133.)  The 
Uber Techs court noted that “a court may reduce the penalty when ‘to do otherwise would result 
in an award that is unjust, arbitrary and oppressive, or confiscatory.’” (Id., at 1134, citing Labor 
Code § 2699(e)(2).)  Nonetheless, the court noted that the plaintiff had provided no “coherent 
analysis” to justify the “relatively meager value” assigned to the PAGA claim.  

California law provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any 
settlement.  First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of 
California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement 
contrary to law or public policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 
412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot 
surrender its duty to see that the judgment to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a 
mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have specifically noted that Neary does not 
always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are implicated, the additional safeguard 
of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement process, serves a salutatory 
purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of America (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

C. Attorney fees 

Plaintiffs seek 33 1/3% of the total settlement amount as fees, relying on the “common 

fund” theory.  Even a proper common fund-based fee award, however, should be reviewed 

through a lodestar cross-check.  In Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal.5th 480, 503, 
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the Supreme Court endorsed the use of a lodestar cross-check as a way to determine whether 

the percentage allocated is reasonable.  It stated:  “If the multiplier calculated by means of a 

lodestar cross-check is extraordinarily high or low, the trial court should consider whether the 

percentage used should be adjusted so as to bring the imputed multiplier within a justifiable 

range, but the court is not necessarily required to make such an adjustment.”  (Id., at 505.)  

Following typical practice, however, the fee award will not be considered at this time, but only as 

part of final approval.   

Similarly, litigation costs and the requested representative payment of $7,000 for each 

plaintiff will be reviewed at time of final approval.  Criteria for evaluation of such requests are 

discussed in Clark v. American Residential Services LLC (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 785, 804-807.   

D. Discussion 

The moving papers sufficiently establish that the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, 

and adequate to justify preliminary approval, with one exception: The parties must provide 

documentation that the LWDA was notified of the settlements of the PAGA claims. The Court 

also views the limitation of the release language to “facts alleged in the complaint” as material to 

the approval.  

E. Conclusion 

Hearing required, to arrange for submission of the necessary PAGA documentation. 

Once that document is provided, counsel are directed to prepare an order reflecting this 

tentative ruling, the other findings in the previously submitted proposed order, and to obtain a 

hearing date for the motion for final approval from the Department clerk.  Other dates in 

the scheduled notice process should track as appropriate to the hearing date.  The ultimate 

judgment must provide for a compliance hearing after the settlement has been completely 

implemented.  Plaintiffs’ counsel are to submit a compliance statement one week before the 

compliance hearing date.  5% of the attorney’s fees are to be withheld by the claims 

administrator pending satisfactory compliance as found by the Court. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02092 
CASE NAME: MOOIMAN VS. ST. MARY'S COLLEGE 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: COMPLIANCE HEARING SET BY DEPT. 39 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Brunner declaration adequately sets forth that payments have been made, and the amount 
of uncashed checks.  The Administrator is authorized to disburse the remaining $45,363 to the 
cy pres recipient.  The 5% of attorney’s fees may be disbursed to class counsel.  The amended 
judgment will be entered. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01257 
CASE NAME: DIMERCURIO VS MARTINEZ REFININ 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of DIMERCURIO FILED 
BY MARTINEZ REFINING COMPANY LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 

Before the Court is a demurrer to Plaintiffs' first amended complaint ("FAC"). For the reasons set 

forth, the demurrer is overruled. 

Background 

Plaintiffs allege they are "Operators" employed by defendant Martinez Refining Company, LLC 

("MRC ") at its Martinez facility. (FAC ¶¶ 11, 12.) They filed this action on behalf of themselves 

and as proposed class representatives alleging violations of the Industrial Welfare Commission 

("IWC") Wage Order No. 1-2001, the California Labor Code, and the Unfair Competition Law, 

Business & Professions Code § 17200 ("UCL"), and a fifth cause of action for civil penalties 

under Labor Code §§ 2698, et seq., the Private Attorney General Act ("PAGA").  

Defendant MRC's general demurrer challenges only the fifth cause of action of the FAC. MRC 

contends the fifth cause of action fails to state a cause of action against MRC because Plaintiffs' 

pre-litigation notice to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency ("LWDA") is deficient. 

They also contend the fifth cause of action fails to state a cause of action because Plaintiffs do 

not plead facts supporting their right to reporting time pay by failing to cite a violation of a Labor 

Code provision, and therefore they contend Plaintiffs' claims for waiting time and wage 

statement penalties also fail.   

Standards Governing Ruling on Demurrer 

In ruling on the demurrer, the Court must accept as true all well-pled factual allegations of the 

complaint, but not legal or factual conclusions or contentions of law. (City of Dinuba v. County of 

Tulare (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 859, 865; Carloss v. County of Alameda (2015) 242 Cal. App.4th 116, 

123 [citing Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318]; Czajkowski v. Haskell & White, LLP 

(2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 166, 173 ["a demurrer does not admit the plaintiff's contentions nor 

conclusions of law or fact."].) In determining whether the FAC states a claim for relief, the Court 

gives "the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their 

context. [Citation omitted.]" (Evans v. City of Berkeley (2006) 38 Cal. 4th 1, 6.) The Court also 

considers matters of which the Court can properly take judicial notice. (Carloss v. County of 

Alameda, supra, 242 Cal.App.4th at 123.) In determining whether the complaint states a cause 

of action, the Court evaluates "whether a cause of action has been stated under any legal 

theory. [Citation omitted.]" (Gomez v. Regents of University of California (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 

386, 391.) 

A demurrer must dispose of an entire cause of action. (Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. 

(2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1167 ["Ordinarily, a general demurrer may not be sustained, nor a 

motion for judgment on the pleadings granted, as to a portion of a cause of action. [Citations 

omitted.]"]; PH II, Inc. v. Superior Court (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1680, 1682-1683 [reversing trial 
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court order sustaining demurrer to one of several distinct incidents of malpractice pled in a 

single legal malpractice cause of action].) 

Matters Subject to Judicial Notice 

MRC's demurrer is not supported by a request for judicial notice. MRC refers to a copy of a 

notice letter send to the LWDA dated August 27, 2020 (the "LWDA Notice") attached to a 

previously filed declaration by Plaintiffs' counsel Mr. Nazarov. (Memo ISO Dem. p. 4, ll. 6-13.) 

The LWDA Notice is expressly alleged in the FAC. (FAC ¶ 59.) Plaintiffs have also filed a copy 

of the LWDA Notice with their opposition. (Nazarov Decl. ISO Opp. to Dem. Exh. 1.) The LWDA 

Notice and its contents are matters not reasonably susceptible to dispute between the parties, 

and the Court will consider the LWDA Notice in ruling on the demurrer. (Evid. Code § 452(h).) 

Plaintiffs ask the Court to take judicial notice of a first amended complaint filed by two of the 

Plaintiffs in federal court against Equilon Enterprises ("Equilon Action") making substantially the 

same allegations, including the PAGA claim. (Nazarov Decl. Exh. 2 and RJN.) The Court denies 

Plaintiffs' request as not relevant to the Court's determination of the demurrer in this case.  

Analysis 

Under PAGA, an "aggrieved employee" may bring claims for violation of the Labor Code on 

behalf of the employee and other current or former employees "pursuant to the procedures 

specified in Section 2699.3." (Lab. Code § 2699(a).) Labor Code § 2699.3 provides: 

A civil action by an aggrieved employee pursuant to subdivision 

(a) or (f) of Section 2699 alleging a violation of any provision 

listed in Section 2699.5 shall commence only after the following 

requirements have been met: 

(1)(A) The aggrieved employee or representative shall give 

written notice by online filing with the Labor and Workforce 

Development Agency and by certified mail to the employer of the 

specific provisions of this code alleged to have been violated, 

including the facts and theories to support the alleged violation. 

(Lab. Code § 2699.3(a)(1)(A) [emphasis added].) 

Labor Code § 2699.5 in turn includes a list of Labor Code statutes to which Labor Code § 

2699.3(a) applies. That list includes Labor Code §§ 201-204, 226, 1194, and 1198.  

"Before bringing a PAGA action, an aggrieved employee must give the LWDA written notice of 

the facts and theories supporting the Labor Code violations alleged. [Citations omitted.] As 

California courts have repeatedly recognized, PAGA's prefiling notice requirement is a 

mandatory precondition to bringing a PAGA claim. [Citations omitted.]" (Esparza v. Safeway, 

Inc. (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 42, 59.) 

PAGA claims can be filed as standalone cases. (Lab. Code § 2699(g)(1); Kim v. Reins (2020) 9 

Cal.5th 73, 88.) The facts alleged in support of the first through third causes of action in the FAC 
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form the supporting factual predicate for the fifth cause of action alleging the PAGA claim, but 

the PAGA claim is not strictly "derivative" of those other causes of action.   

a. Sufficiency of the LWDA Notice as A Condition to Filing PAGA Claim 

 

The LWDA Notice sets forth Plaintiffs' facts and theories as to why MRC's standby requirements 

for Operators violate IWC Wage Order No. 1-2001 (title 8 Cal. Code Regs. § 11010(5)(A)) and 

cites Ward v. Tilly's Inc. (2019) 31 Cal.App.5th 1167, construing a similar provision of a different 

Wage Order as support for its reporting time pay theory and MRC's violation of IWC Wage 

Order No. 1-2001. The LWDA Notice asserts that by failing to pay reporting time pay, MRC 

violated IWC Wage Order No. 1-2001. Plaintiffs assert in the LWDA Notice that as a result, 

MRC also violated Labor Code §§ 226 and 226.3 in not providing accurate wage statements, 

and violated Labor Code §§ 201-203 in not timely paying reporting time pay due employees who 

were terminated or resigned. (Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1, pp. 2-3, Compl. ¶¶ 28.d.-f.; Second Cause 

of Action, Third Cause of Action, and ¶ 39.) Plaintiffs attach their original complaint in this action 

to the LWDA Notice. 

The LWDA Notice does not cite Labor Code § 204, the statute which Plaintiffs allege was 

violated in their PAGA cause of action, nor is that statute referenced in the allegations preceding 

that paragraph, including those on which the first cause of action for violation of Wage Order No. 

1-2001 rests. (Compare FAC ¶ 58 to FAC ¶¶ 28.d.-f. and 33-48.) In their opposition to the 

demurrer, Plaintiffs argue that MRC violated Labor Code §§ 1194, 1198 and 98.3 when MRC 

failed to pay the Operators reporting time pay. (Opp. p. 9, ll. 17-19 ["Plaintiffs' PAGA claim for 

violation of the Wage Order is therefore proper because it seeks to enforce Labor Code §§ 

1194, 1198, and 98.3"]; p. 10, ll. 13-16.) The LWDA Notice does not allege violations of those 

statutes either, nor does the FAC allege violations of those Labor Code provisions.  

1. Labor Code § 98.3 

 

Labor Code § 98.3 is not one of the statutes enumerated in Labor Code § 2699.5 to which the 

notice requirements of Labor Code § 2699.3(a)(1) apply, but that statute also does not address 

a violation of the Labor Code. Labor Code § 98.3(b) states, "The Labor Commissioner may 

prosecute action for the collection of wages and other moneys payable to employees or to the 

state arising out of an employment relationship or order of the Industrial Welfare Commission." It 

is a statute authorizing suit, not a statute prohibiting certain employment practices or providing a 

right to substantive relief for certain conduct by an employer, unlike other statutes listed in Labor 

Code § 2699.5. In any event, Plaintiffs' FAC does not mention or allege a violation of Labor 

Code § 98.3. (FAC ¶¶ 34-37 and 55-60.) 

2. Labor Code § 1198 

 

Both Labor Code §§ 1194 and 1198 are explicitly subject to the notice requirements under 

Labor Code §§ 2699.3(a)(1)(A) and 2699.5. When the party asserting a PAGA claim fails to 

identify in its pre-litigation LWDA notice the specific Labor Code statutes the party contends 

have been violated and those statutes are enumerated in Labor Code § 2699.5, the plaintiff has 
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not met the pre-litigation notice requirements of Labor Code § 2699.3(a)(1)(A). (Brown v. Ralphs 

Grocery Co. (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 824, 838.) 

In Brown v. Ralphs Grocery Co., supra, 28 Cal.App.5th 824, the Court held the plaintiff's failure 

to identify various Labor Code statutes in her pre-filing notice to the LWDA, including specifically 

Labor Code § 1198, rendered the notice deficient and precluded her from pursuing a PAGA 

claim based on those omitted Labor Code statutes. (Id. at 838.) Plaintiffs argue that they seek to 

enforce Labor Code § 1198 for the violation of the reporting time pay requirement of the Wage 

Order, but they do not allege a violation of that statute in their FAC or in the LWDA Notice. 

Neither document makes any reference to that statute. 

3. Labor Code § 1194 

 

Plaintiffs argue they cited Labor Code § 1194 in their LWDA Notice. (Opp. p. 15, l. 23, citing 

Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1, p. 17.) The reference they rely on is in the prayer for relief in the original 

complaint attached to the LWDA Notice which is the only place Labor Code § 1194 is mentioned 

in the notice or the attached complaint. The prayer states that Plaintiffs "pray for judgment 

against PBF as follows: . . . I. For interest, attorneys' fees, and costs of suit under Labor Code 

section 226 and 1194 and Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5 and other applicable code 

sections." The reference does not satisfy the requirements of Labor Code §§ 2699.3(a)(1(A) and 

2699.5 because Plaintiffs do not allege anywhere in the LWDA notice letter or in the substantive 

claims for violations of the Labor Code statutes alleged in the original complaint that MRC 

violated Labor Code § 1194.  

To the contrary, the first page of their LWDA Notice summarizes the Plaintiffs' claims and 

alleged Labor Code violations as follows: "Pursuant to Labor Code section 2699 subdivision 

(1)(1) [sic], Plaintiffs have enclosed as Exhibit A 'an endorsed filed copy of the complaint' filed 

on July 2, 2020 'that includes the case number assigned by the court.' The complaint alleges 

four causes of action. Two of the causes of action allege violations of the Labor Code." 

(Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1 p. 1 [emphasis added].) The only two causes of action alleging violations 

of the Labor Code in the original complaint are the second and third causes of action, which 

allege violations of Labor Code §§ 200-203 and Labor Code §§ 226, 226.3, respectively. 

(Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1 p. 9, ll. 21-11 and p. 10, ll. 11-12.) 

The purpose of the PAGA notice requirement is to give the LDWA and the employer notice of 

the violations to allow the employer to respond and the LWDA to decide whether to investigate 

and pursue the violations alleged. (Brown v. Ralphs Grocery Co., supra, 28 Cal.App.5th at 836 

[citing Williams v. Superior Court (2017) 3 Cal.5th 531, 545-546]; Alcantar v. Hobart Serv. (9th 

Cir. 2015) 800 F.3d 1047, 1057 [finding California's exhaustion requirements not satisfied where 

a plaintiff's allegations were so vague they did not allow the state agency to "intelligently assess 

the seriousness of the alleged violations" and the employer to "determine what policies or 

practices are being complained of"].) The reference in the prayer of the complaint attached to 

the LWDA Notice only seeks a remedy of an award of attorneys' fees, costs and interest under 

the statute. A fair reading of that reference in the prayer does not provide notice to the LWDA of 
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any alleged violation of Labor Code § 1194 and does not satisfy the policies and purposes 

underlying the notice statute. 

4. Reporting Time Pay Violation Stated 

 

The Court does not find MRC's argument persuasive that Plaintiffs' have not alleged facts 

showing the standby requirements entitle them to reporting time pay and that the employees 

meet the requirements for a Wage Order No. 1-2001 violation in that that they "report for work" 

and are not given reporting time pay. (FAC ¶¶ 1, 3-5, 10, 22, 23.) The employees allege they 

were required to be "ready to receive a call for a period of 30 minutes prior to the start of the 

standby shift and up to an hour after the standby shift commenced." (FAC ¶ 22.) When 

scheduled to cover standby shifts, the Operators must be available and ready to receive the call 

to cover twice a day based on the two shift per day schedule at the Martinez Refinery (6 a.m.to 

6 p.m. and 6 p.m. to 6 a.m.). If called, they have to report within two hours. (FAC ¶ 22.) 

Noncompliance with these requirements could result in disciplinary action for being "absent 

without leave." (FAC ¶ 22.) Unless they actually have to cover the shift, they are not paid the 

time spent on call and ready to respond. (FAC ¶ 10.) These allegations, taken as true on 

demurrer, state facts to support a failure to pay reporting time pay when required under the 

Wage Order. 

The facts alleged are close to those alleged in Ward v. Tilly's, Inc., supra, 31 Cal.App.5th 1167, 

1183-1190 in which the Court construed a similar provision of a different IWC Wage Order. The 

Court in Ward v. Tilly's, Inc., supra, 31 Cal.App.5th 1167 found that the employee reports for 

work when the employee follows the employer's direction as to how to present themselves for 

work. "[I]f the employer directs employees to present themselves for work by logging on to a 

computer remotely, or by appearing at the client's jobsite, or by setting out on a trucking route, 

then the employee reports for work by doing these things. And if, as the plaintiff alleges in this 

case, the employer directs employees to present themselves for work by telephoning the store 

two hours prior to the start of a shift, then the reporting time requirement is triggered by the 

telephone contact." (Id. at 1187.) The method of reporting for work in this case by employees 

being on standby, ready and able to receive a telephone call and to physically arrive for a shift 

within two hours, and the impingement on the employees' freedom come within the Court's 

rationale for finding the employees in that case stated a claim for reporting time pay. (Id. at 

1183.)  

b. Other Claims Within the Scope of the PAGA Fifth Cause of Action 

 

The failure of the LWDA Notice of allege a violation of Labor Code §§ 204, 1194 or 1198, the 

statutes Plaintiffs now rely on for their PAGA claim with respect to the violation of Wage Order 

No. 1-2001 in failing to pay reporting time pay, means that Plaintiffs have not met the mandatory 

pre-filing requirements of Labor Code §§ 2699.3(a) and 2699.5 with respect to that portion of the 

claim.  

The PAGA cause of action, however, alleges other violations of the Labor Code that were 

identified in the LWDA Notice and are reflected in the second and third causes of action. Unless 
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MRC can establish a basis for demurrer to these other violations alleged in the PAGA cause of 

action, the demurrer cannot be sustained because a demurrer must dispose of an entire cause 

of action. (Daniels v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., supra, 246 Cal.App.4th at 1167; PH II, Inc. 

v. Superior Court, supra, 33 Cal.App.4th at 1682-1683.) 

1. Violations of Labor Code §§ 226 and 226.3 Regarding Wage Statements 

 

Labor Code § 226 imposes an obligation on employers to provide employees an accurate 

statement of wages earned. (Lab. Code § 226(a).) The wage statement must include, among 

other items, "an accurate itemized statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) 

total hours worked by the employee, except as provided in subdivision (j), . . . (5) net wages 

earned, . . . and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the 

corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee." (Lab. Code § 

226(a).) Labor Code § 226(a) requires employers to report hours worked and wages earned. 

(Lab. Code § 226(a)(1), (a)(2), and (a)(9).) "Wage statements should include the hours worked 

at each rate and the wages earned. In a perfect world, the first numbers will calculate out to the 

second. But when there is a wage and hour violation, the hours worked will differ from what was 

truly earned. " (Maldonado v. Epsilon Plastics, Inc. (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1308, 1336-1337 

[italics in original].) 

If reporting time pay is due the operators under the Wage Order, then the reporting time pay 

constitutes "wages" and is required to be accurately itemized and accounted for in the wage 

statement mandated under Labor Code § 226(a). (See Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, 

Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1111–1112 [reporting-time pay is a form of wages, like split-shift 

and overtime pay]; Shine v. Williams-Sonoma, Inc. (2018) 23 Cal. App. 5th 1070, 1077 

[reporting time pay is a form of wages]; Cortez v. Doty Bros. Equipment Co. (2017) 15 

Cal.App.5th 1, 14 [upholding order for arbitration of claim pursuant to a collective bargaining 

agreement, stating "the agreement to arbitrate claims 'arising under' Wage Order 16 is clear and 

unmistakable. Although the Labor Code is not specifically mentioned, we cannot disregard the 

reality that an employee may enforce the protections of the wage order in court only by bringing 

a claim under the Labor Code. [Citations omitted.]"].) If the operators are entitled to reporting 

time pay and their wage statements did not reflect hours for which reporting time pay was 

earned, and if the employee's gross and net wages earned for those hours are not reflected in 

the wages reported in the pay statement, the wage statement is inaccurate and noncompliant 

with Labor Code § 226(a). (Maldonado v. Epsilon Plastics, Inc., supra, 22 Cal.App.5th at 1336-

1337.) 

MRC argues Plaintiffs have not alleged what is omitted or inaccurate in the wage statements. In 

paragraph 45 of the FAC, Plaintiffs allege the wage statement "did not accurately include correct 

numbers for total hours worked, gross wages earned, net wages earned, applicable hourly rates 

for the pay period at issue, and other information required by law. Reporting time pay was not 

accurately reported on the wage statements." (FAC ¶ 45.) MRC disputes the Operators are 

entitled to reporting time pay, so it seems axiomatic that the reporting time pay to which the 

Plaintiffs contend they are entitled is not reflected in their wage statements. If the Operators 

have earned reporting time pay and that pay is not included in the wage statements as earned 
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and they are not paid those wages, then the amounts reflected in the wage statements do not 

accurately reflect their wages earned and hours worked.  

Plaintiffs allege they each suffered a violation of a Labor Code provision subject to PAGA, 

including violations of Labor Code §§ 226 and 226.3. (FAC ¶¶ 44-48.) The LWDA Notice 

specifically cites violations of Labor Code § 226(a) and describes the facts and theories 

supporting the claimed violation, which are also alleged in the FAC. (Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1, pp. 

2-3.) This portion of the PAGA claim thus meets the pre-filing administrative requirements and 

alleges sufficient facts and Labor Code violations to support a PAGA cause of action.  

2. Failure to Pay Reporting Time Pay at Termination or Resignation in Violation 

of Labor Code §§ 200-203 

MRC contends that neither of the Plaintiffs has standing to bring a claim based on failure to pay 

reporting time pay at termination or resignation in violation of Labor Code §§ 200-203 because 

the FAC alleges that both Plaintiffs are still employed by MRC and therefore have not suffered 

this violation. Plaintiffs have, however, pled facts sufficient to show that they suffered a violation 

of Labor Code §§ 226 and 226.3 and that they met the pre-filing notice requirements for those 

violations. They are therefore "aggrieved employees" who have standing to bring a PAGA claim 

based on those violations as well as other violations other employees may have suffered even 

though they may not have suffered the violation of Labor Code §§ 200-203 since they are still 

employed.  

As Operators who have received inaccurate wage statements that violate those Labor Code § 

226(a) for the reasons set forth above, and who submitted an LWDA Notice that recites those 

violations and the facts and theories underlying them, they are each an "aggrieved employee" 

who has standing to bring PAGA claims under Labor Code § 2699. (Lab. Code § 2699(c) 

[aggrieved employee defined as "any person who was employed by the alleged violator and 

against whom one or more of the alleged violations was committed"]; Kim v. Reins (2020) 9 

Cal.5th 73, 81 ["Only an aggrieved employee has PAGA standing."].)   

As aggrieved employees who have alleged facts to support that they have each sustained at 

least one Labor Code violation by MRC, they also have standing to assert other violations of the 

Labor Code that other current or former employees have suffered, even if the specific plaintiffs 

bringing the PAGA claim have not suffered those violations. (Kim v. Reins, supra, 9 Cal.5th at 

85 [holding employee who was PAGA plaintiff who settled his individual claims still had standing 

to prosecute PAGA claims].) As the California Supreme Court explained, "An employee has 

PAGA standing if 'one or more of the alleged violations was committed against him. (§ 2699(c), 

italics added.) This language indicates that PAGA standing is not inextricably linked to the 

plaintiff's own injury. Employees who were subjected to at least one unlawful practice have 

standing to serve as PAGA representatives even if they did not personally experience each and 

every alleged violation. (§ 2699(c).)" (Id.) (See also Huff v. Securitas Sec. Servs. USA, Inc. 

(2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 745, 751 ["[W]e conclude that PAGA allows an 'aggrieved employee'—a 

person affected by at least one Labor Code violation committed by an employer—to pursue 

penalties for all the Labor Code violations committed by that employer."].)  
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The LWDA Notice specifically identifies Labor Code §§ 201-203, statutes also alleged in the 

FAC. (Nazarov Decl. Exh. 1, pp. 2-3.) Labor Code § 200 merely defines "wages" and "labor" and 

is not one of the provisions listed in Labor Code § 2699.5 to which the Labor Code § 2699.3(a) 

notice applies. Its omission from the LWDA Notice is immaterial. 

Conclusion 

The fifth cause of action adequately alleges facts supporting a PAGA claim for violations of 

Labor Code § 226(a) for failure to provide accurate wage statements, and for violation of Labor 

Code §§ 201-203 for failure to pay all amounts due employees who resigned or were terminated 

by MRC's failure to pay reporting time pay. These Labor Code violations and facts and theories 

are stated in the LWDA Notice. While defendant is correct that the factual basis for the wage 

statement violations relies on the predicate failure to pay wages, a case may still proceed only 

as to the “statement” violations, whether as a result of plaintiff’s deliberate choice, or failure to 

properly notice the underlying wage violation. 

 

MRC demurred to the fifth cause of action as a whole, not its component claims as separate 

causes of action. (See Dem. to FAC p. 1, ll. 9-18; Rojas-Cifuentes v. American Modular 

Systems, Inc. (2020) 58 Cal.App.5th 1051, 1061-1062 [where party moving for summary 

adjudication "limited its challenge to the entirety of Rojas's PAGA claim" and did not seek 

summary adjudication of possible distinct causes of action within the PAGA cause of action, trial 

court properly denied motion because moving party did not show it had a complete defense to 

the entire cause of action].) The Court cannot sustain a demurrer to a portion of a cause of 

action.  

 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01947 
CASE NAME: EDWARDS VS CONTRA COSTA REGION 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY MAURICIO KURI MD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Dr. Kuri’s motion is granted.  The moving papers meet his burden on a motion for summary 
judgment, and plaintiffs have filed notice that they do not oppose the motion, and that counsel 
have agreed that moving party waives fees and costs. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-01959 
CASE NAME: ELSTER VS VIVID SEATS, INC. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR TO DISMISS AND TO COMPEL ARBITRATION 
FILED BY VIVID SEATS LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This matter is continued by stipulation of the parties to February 24, 2022, at 9:00 a.m.  

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00119 
CASE NAME: WALSH VS BP PRODUCTS NORTH AME 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY JIMMY WALSH 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Plaintiff seeks preliminary approval of a class-action settlement with BP Products of 

North America, Inc. (“BP”).  The motion initially was heard on October 21, 2021, after which the 

Court requested supplemental briefing addressing specified issues. The complaint alleges that 

BP failed to redeem gift cards with a value of less than $10 for cash, in violation of the “Gift Card 

Act,” specifically Civil Code section 1749.5(b)(2), and other authorities.  BP sells gift cards 

redeemable at Arco gas stations in California.  It does not, however, own or operate the gas 

stations, but instead provides gasoline to them.  The gift card program is not operated by BP, 

but by Tesoro Refining & Marketing Company LLC. 

A. Terms of the Settlement. 

BP will use its “best efforts to provide written notice to its ARCO-branded dealers and 

operators of stations” in 43 specified northern California counties that “any gift certificate with a 

cash value of less than ten dollars is redeemable in cash for its cash value.”  Written notice 

would be provided “annually for the next two years.” As initially drafted, the settlement did not 

define “best efforts.”  The individual stations would thereafter be responsible for compliance. 

BP will pay $5,000 to plaintiff as in incentive award, $67,000 in attorney’s fees and costs 

(which will revert to BP if not approved by the court), and up to $10,000 in settlement 

administrator’s expenses. No other monetary payments will be made.  (Paragraph 6 and 7 of the 

settlement agreement, read in combination, indicate that the $10,000 in settlement costs is in 

addition to the $67,000.)  

Class notice will be given by posting notice on the settlement administrator’s website and 

class counsel’s website for 60 days.  In addition, within 30 days of preliminary approval, BP will 

provided notices to the relevant ARCO stations for posting at the premises.  The notices will 

remain posted for sixty days.  Putative class members will have a 45-day opportunity to opt-out.  

There is no mechanism for assuring that the ARCO stations actually post the notices.  The 

notice itself advises the class members that if they have a “card with a value of less than $10, 
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[they] may redeem it for cash[.]”  It also advises them that they “may be part of a class action 

settlement,” and that they may opt out.  It does not, however, advise them that there will be no 

monetary recovery for the class members. 

The agreement contains a release, which releases all claims that arise out of or relate in 

any way to the specific factual matters alleged in the Complaint in the Action.  

B. Standard of Review. 

The primary determination to be made is whether the proposed settlement is “fair, 
reasonable, and adequate,” under Dunk v. Ford Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1801, 
including “the strength of plaintiffs’ case, the risk, expense, complexity and likely duration of 
further litigation, the risk of maintaining class action status through trial, the amount offered in 
settlement, the extent of discovery completed and the state of the proceedings, the experience 
and views of counsel, the presence of a governmental participant, and the reaction … to the 
proposed settlement.”   

California law also provides some general guidance concerning judicial approval of any 
settlement.  First, public policy generally favors settlement.  (Neary v. Regents of University of 
California (1992) 3 Cal.4th 273.)  Nonetheless, the court should not approve an agreement 
contrary to law or public policy.  (Bechtel Corp. v. Superior Court (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 405, 
412; Timney v. Lin (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1121, 1127.)  Moreover, “[t]he court cannot 
surrender its duty to see that the judgment to be entered is a just one, nor is the court to act as a 
mere puppet in the matter.”  (California State Auto. Assn. Inter-Ins. Bureau v. Superior Court 
(1990) 50 Cal.3d 658, 664.)  As a result, courts have specifically noted that Neary does not 
always apply, because “[w]here the rights of the public are implicated, the additional safeguard 
of judicial review, though more cumbersome to the settlement process, serves a salutatory 
purpose.”  (Consumer Advocacy Group, Inc. v. Kintetsu Enterprises of America (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 48, 63.) 

Ordinarily, a class action plaintiff seeks an attorney’s fee of a percentage of the recovery, 

and the Court requires a lodestar cross-check.  (Lafitte v. Robert Half International (2016) 1 Cal. 

5th 480, 503.)  In this instance, Plaintiff will seek a lodestar fee, which must be supported in the 

ordinary manner, and will be reviewed by the Court as such, at the time of final approval. 

C. Analysis of the Agreement. 

Counsel attests that the parties “engaged in informal discovery, including the exchange 

of documents[,]” but provides no further description. In supplementing the record, the matter has 

been clarified. 

 The definition of the class is people “who between January 22, 2017 and the date of 

preliminary approval, presented an ARCO Pump Pass gift card with an amount of less than $10 

for redemption of its cash value at an ARCO-branded station in the Relevant California Counties 

and that request was rejected.”   

Class notice is difficult here, because there is no means for obtaining the addresses of 

the class members.  The terms of the proposed class notice are a concern, because it may 
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imply that some damages will be provided under the settlement.  Perhaps it should specify that 

“the proposed settlement does not provide any monetary recovery for the class.”  

For this type of case, the greatest monetary concern would be that of the customer who 

tried to redeem the card, was refused, and as a result disposed of the card.  No relief is 

provided for that circumstance, which would be hard to quantify.  Apparently, BP does not own 

or operate the stations, so it would not have refused redemption.  As supplemented, Tesoro 

Refining & Marketing LLC operates the gift program, and therefore is the one who benefits from 

disposed cards.  Nor does the record indicate whether there is a means to determine the 

number of cards outstanding and their balance. 

After the initial hearing, the Court requested that additional information be provided 

concerning the extent of the information exchange, the nature of “best efforts” by BP to notify 

the stations of the duty to redeem low-balance cards, the extent of low-balance cards 

outstanding, who retains funds from disposed cards, and the terms of the class notice. The 

parties have executed an addendum to the agreement which provides that “best efforts” means 

communication in writing through BP’s normal channel of communications.  It also amends the 

website notice to clarify that there is no separate payment as part of the settlement, and 

reminding customers that cards with a balance of less than $10 may be redeemed for cash.  

The motion for preliminary approval is granted.  Plaintiff’s counsel are directed to obtain 

a hearing date for a final approval hearing (which would include the request for attorney’s fees 

and representative payment) in consultation with the Department Clerk. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00426 
CASE NAME: VANNUCCHI VS MILLER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of VANNUCCHI FILED 
BY ROBERT A MILLER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
The Court continues the hearing on this motion to December 16, 2021 at 9:00 a.m. 
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12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00822 
CASE NAME: ZEIDAN VS DENTAL FORCE MANAGEM 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of ZEIDAN FILED BY RICHARD D. 
EVANGELISTA, D.D.S., INC., EVANGELISTA DENTAL PARTNERS SUNNYVALE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
For the reasons that follow, the Demurrer of Defendants Evangelista Dental Partners 
Sunnyvale, P.C. and Richard C. Evangelista D.D.S. Inc. (together, “Defendants”) is overruled. 
 
Legal Standard 
 
A demurrer may be sustained where there is a defect or misjoinder of parties; the pleading does 
not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action; or the pleading is uncertain or 
ambiguous. (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10, subds. (d-f). The trial court is required to assume the 
truth of the allegations. Quelimane Company, Inc. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 
Cal.4th 26, 38. A demurrer for uncertainty lies when “the pleading is so incomprehensible that a 
defendant cannot reasonably respond.” Lickiss v. Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (2012) 
208 23 Cal.App.4th 1125, 1135. To plead a cause of action against multiple defendants, a 
plaintiff must allege the basis of the claims against each of them. Gauvin v. Trombatore (N.D. 
Cal. 1988) 682 F.Supp. 1067, 1071.  
 
Analysis 
 
Defendants take issue with the operative complaint on multiple bases that can be distilled to 
three arguments: first, misjoinder because, Defendants allege, Plaintiff has named 42 related 
entities as defendants when she was only employed by one of them. Second, they allege the 
entirety of the Complaint is uncertain, vague and unintelligible because, they allege, Plaintiff 
refers to “Defendant” and “Defendants” without defining these terms or distinguishing between 
the 42 entities. And third, they argue Plaintiff has failed to exhaust her administrative remedies 
because, they allege, Plaintiff’s Labor Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) Notice of 
Labor Code Violations did not comply with the Labor Code section 2699.3 requirements that the 
Notice include the facts and theories supporting the allegations of Labor Code Violations and 
identify the aggrieved employees.  
 
With respect to Defendants’ arguments regarding uncertainty, vagueness, unintelligibility, and 
misjoinder, Plaintiff responds that she has pled that all Defendant entities are owned by Dr. 
Richard Evangelista and operate in concert as a single enterprise with common employees. 
(Opposition 3, citing Complaint ¶¶ 12-52.) Plaintiff has pled numerous facts supporting this 
claim, including that each of the dental clinic entities has contracted with Defendant Dental 
Force Management, Inc. to provide administrative services, dentist recruiting, training, and 

management services (Opposition 2-3, citing Complaint ¶¶ 56-61) and that  Plaintiff  “was 

subject to the needs of Defendants and the various clinics considering Defendants would simply 

re-assign Plaintiff to locations based on need.” (Opposition  3-4, citing Complaint ¶¶ 61, 75-

78, 80-82.)  
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To plead a cause of action against multiple defendants, a plaintiff must allege the basis of the 
claims against each of them. Gauvin v. Trombatore (N.D. Cal. 1988) 682 F.Supp. 1067, 1071. 
The pleading is sufficiently clear to inform all Defendants of the allegations against them, 
namely that they operated as a common employer and that they misclassified Plaintiff and her 
colleagues as independent contractors. 
 
With respect to Defendants’ argument regarding failure to exhaust administrative remedies, 
Plaintiff responds that she attached the entirety of an unfiled, draft version of the operative 
complaint to the notice delivered to the LWDA. As set forth above, the Court has found that the 
Complaint satisfies the pleading standards of Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10. Since the draft 
complaint was attached to the LWDA notice, the Court therefore finds that Plaintiff has provided 
the LWDA sufficient notice of the statutory violations alleged and the facts and theories 
underpinning those allegations.  
 
The demurrer is therefore overruled. 
 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-00822 
CASE NAME: ZEIDAN VS DENTAL FORCE MANAGEM 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF PLTFS COMPLAINT 
FILED BY EVANGELISTA DENTAL PARTNERS SUNNYVALE PC, RICHARD D. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Along with their Demurrer, Defendants Evangelista Dental Partners Sunnyvale, P.C. and 
Richard C. Evangelista D.D.S. Inc. (together, “Defendants”) have filed a motion to strike portions 
of the operative complaint. For the reasons that follow, the motion is granted with respect to 
Defendant’s request to strike Plaintiff’s prayer for “disgorgement of all profits” and is otherwise 
denied. 
 
Legal Standard 
 
The Court may, in its discretion and upon a motion to strike by defendant: (a) strike out any 
irrelevant, false, or improper matter inserted in any pleading, or (b) strike out all or any part of 
any pleading not drawn or filed in conformity with the laws of this state, a court rule, or an order 
of the court. (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 435-436.) The matter must appear on the face of the 
complaint, or be subject to judicial notice. (Code Civ. Proc., § 437.)  
 
Analysis 
 
Defendants move to strike Plaintiff’s PAGA claim in its entirety first on the basis that, they 
allege, Plaintiff’s Labor Workforce Development Agency (“LWDA”) Notice of Labor Code 
Violations did not comply with the Labor Code section 2699.3 requirements that the Notice 
include the facts and theories supporting the allegations of Labor Code Violations and identify 
the aggrieved employees. Plaintiff responds that she both stated the statutory violations 
underpinning her claims in the notice and attached the operative complaint.  
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As set forth in the ruling on Defendants’ demurrer, the Court has found that the operative 
complaint satisfies the pleading standards of Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10. Since a draft of the 
operative complaint was submitted to the LWDA along with the notice, the Court therefore finds 
that Plaintiff has provided the LWDA sufficient notice of the statutory violations alleged and the 
facts and theories underpinning those allegations. 
 
Second, Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s PAGA claim should be stricken because, they allege, 
Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate how each Defendants violated the terms of the specific Labor 
Code provision at issue, citing Noe v. Superior Court (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 316, 334 (“Noe”) 
and arguing that there is no legal basis for a joint employer to be jointly liable for, or share in the 
civil liability of, a co-employer's voluntary and knowing misclassification of a joint employee. This 
argument ignores Plaintiff’s allegation that the 42 named defendants in this action are not 
merely joint employers but rather are a joint venture operating as a single enterprise under the 
control of Defendant Dr. Richard Evangelista (Complaint ¶¶ 12-52; 56-59; 60-61; 77, 88-82.) 
The Noe case clarifies that liability does not lie where a joint employer had no knowledge that an 
employee was misclassified, but liability may lie where an employer “actually involved itself with 
or participated in the voluntary and knowing misclassification of its employees through some act 
or omission.” Noe, 237 Cal.App.4th at 332. Plaintiff’s allegation here is that each of the 
defendants had knowledge and engaged in actions or omissions through the centralized control 
of Dr. Evangelista.  
 
On reply, Defendants argue that Plaintiff has failed to plead joint enterprise without stating how 
the pleading is deficient. This is unpersuasive. Plaintiff has pled detailed facts regarding 
common ownership, common management, centralized control, and a single business 
undertaking.  
 
Third, Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s PAGA claim should be stricken because resolution of the 
proposed PAGA group’s claims requires individualized analysis under the multi- factor test set 
out in S. G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations (1989) 48 Cal.3d 34. 
Defendant asserts that this analysis poses manageability issues that the Court should exercise 
its discretion to prevent, citing Wesson v. Staples the Office Superstore, LLC (2021) 68 
17  Cal.App.5th 746 [__ Cal.Rptr.3d __], reh’g denied (Sept. 27, 2021). The Court notes that 
Wesson concludes with the following: 
 

We do not hold that a PAGA misclassification case can never be managed 
through common-proof methods. However, Wesson's lack of cooperation with the 
trial court's inquiry in this regard stymied the court's efforts to devise a plan that 
would allow the action to proceed, in whole or in part. On the record before us, 
the trial court's determination that Wesson's PAGA claim was unmanageable 
was eminently reasonable. Accordingly, we find no abuse of discretion in the 
court's decision to strike Wesson's PAGA claim.  

 
Wesson v. Staples the Office Superstore, LLC (Sep. 9, 2021, No. B302988) ___Cal.App.5th___ 
[2021 Cal. App. LEXIS 743, at *38-39].) These factors are not present here, and the Court finds 
that the pleading does not disclose manageability concerns that necessitate striking Plaintiff’s 
claim. 
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Fourth, Defendants assert that Plaintiff’s PAGA claim should be struck as against those 
defendant entities with whom she did not have an employment relationship. Again, this 
disregards Plaintiff’s well-pled theory that together, all named defendants participated in a joint 
venture that operates as a single enterprise under the control of Dr. Evangelista. 
 
Defendants’ final request is unclear. They first appear to ask the Court to strike the portion of 
Plaintiff’s prayer for relief seeking disgorgement and then appear to ask the Court to strike the 
entirety of Plaintiff’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”) claim on the basis that restitution is 
unavailable in a PAGA action. The Court notes that Plaintiff may properly seek injunctive relief 
through her UCL claim and that the California Supreme Court has held unlawfully held wages 
may be recovered as restitution under the UCL. Defendants are correct that disgorgement of “all 
profits” is not an available remedy in the circumstances. To the extent that they seek to have 
this language struck from the prayer for relief, the Court concurs and otherwise declines to rule 
on remedies at this early stage in the litigation. 
 
Defendants’ motion is therefore granted with respect to the prayer for “disgorgement of all 
profits” and is otherwise denied in its entirety. 
 
Request for Judicial Notice 
 
With her opposition to the demurrer and the motion to strike, Plaintiff filed a request that the 
Court take judicial notice of its own tentative ruling dated August 11, 2021 in the matter of 
Rozenberg v. Richard C. Evangelista DDS, Inc., Contra Costa Superior Court Case No. MSC20-
02330. The Court takes judicial notice of this document pursuant to California Evidence Code § 
452(d). 
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC21-02272 
CASE NAME: ALAMILLO REBAR, ET AL. VS ALAM 
HEARING ON OSC RE PRELIMARY INJUNCTION ( EX PARTE) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a request for a preliminary injunction by plaintiffs Alamillo Rebar Inc. and 361 

West Channel Road, LLC ("Moving Parties"). For the reasons set forth, the request for a 

preliminary injunction is granted. This relief is conditioned upon the Moving Parties posting an 

undertaking in the amount of $150,000 pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 529 by December 

9, 2021. Please see the disposition at the conclusion of this ruling for additional details. 

Factual Background 

At issue in the motion is a pending sale of the real property located at 361 West Channel Road, 

Benicia, California ("Property"). The Property is owned by and titled to 361 West Channel Road, 

LLC (the "LLC" for convenience). (Joe Alamillo Decl. ¶¶ 3, 18, and Exh. E [title report].)  

The LLC agreed to sell the Property to a third party buyer and opened escrow for the sale in 

May 2021. (Joe Alamillo Decl. ¶ 19.) Janice Alamillo was given notice of the sale in July 2021. 

(Joe Alamillo Decl. ¶ 19 and Exh. C.) Escrow was scheduled to close on September 20, 2021. 
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(Joe Alamillo Decl. ¶ 19.) (For clarity given that many of the interested parties have the same 

surname and brevity of reference, the Court will identify members of the Alamillo family by their 

first names in this ruling.) 

On September 17, 2021, the Friday before the scheduled Monday closing, Janice, through 

counsel, submitted a demand to the escrow company handling the sale, North American Title 

("NAT"). (Joe Decl. ¶ 20 and Exh. D.) In her demand, Janice takes the position that she is a 

necessary signatory for the LLC to sell the Property and that she is entitled to a 21.7% share of 

the proceeds of the sale. (Joe Decl. Exh. D.) NAT has refused to close escrow for the sale 

unless Janice Alamillo withdraws her September 17, 2021 demand. (Joe Decl. ¶ 22.) 

The Moving Parties filed a complaint against Janice Alamillo alleging claims for intentional 

interference with contract, breach of fiduciary duty to the LLC, slander of title, and seek a 

preliminary and permanent injunction barring her from interfering with the LLC's sale of the 

Property. The Moving Parties contend Janice Alamillo's actions are preventing the sale of the 

Property from closing, risking the loss of the sale to the buyer and jeopardizing the LLC's ability 

to satisfy the secured debts encumbering the Property which will be paid through the sale. 

The estimated settlement statement for the sale shows that there will be no net proceeds of sale 

paid to the LLC or its members. (Joe Decl. Exh. K.) The estimated settlement statement shows 

that from the sale price of $1,750,000, after payment of prorations, costs of sale, and real estate 

commissions, the following will be paid from the sale proceeds:  

Lienholder Amount 

Bay Area Employment Development Company (1st Mtg. Loan) $459.974.98 

First Northern Bank of Dixon (Per Demand) $562,364.16 

Old Republic Insurance (Paid in Full)  $       266.27 

Philadelphia Insurance Companies  $663,014.90 

 

In her opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction, Janice Alamillo cites her disputes with 

Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company ("PIIC") over her guaranty of obligations owed to 

PIIC as the reason she objects to the sale. (Opp. p. 15, ll. 1-21.) She points to her First 

Amended Complaint ("FAC") filed in the related action of Janice Alamillo v. Alamillo Rebar, Inc., 

et al., Contra Costa Superior Court Case No. MSC20-01810 ("Related Action") as support for 

her position but has presented no evidence in support of her claims of wrongdoing against 

Alamillo Rebar, Inc. ("ARI") or the other defendants named in her lawsuit in the Related Action, 

including PIIC. 

Janice does not state that she contests any of the other liens that will be paid through the sale, 

nor has she alleged that any of the other creditors whose liens will be paid are within the alleged 

conspiracy subject to her claims in the FAC. She does not argue that the sale of the Property is 

for less than fair market value, or that she has any other objection to the sale other than her 

contention that she is entitled to a direct payment of the sale proceeds based on her 21.7% in 

interest in the LLC, implicitly without her "share" being used to pay the PIIC deed of trust against 
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the Property though it is not clear from her demand and her opposition whether she contends 

her 21.7% share extends to proceeds beyond those designated to be paid to PIIC.  

The PIIC deed of trust encumbering the Property secures Alamillo Rebar, Inc.'s obligations to 

PIIC under its General Indemnity Agreement with PIIC. (Joe Decl. ¶ 17.) PIIC issued surety 

bonds in connection with construction projects performed by ARI before it began winding down 

its business. (Joe Decl. ¶¶ 13 [ARI had large losses from two major projects], 14 [ARI began 

winding down in 2019], 17 [ARI required to enter into General Indemnity Agreement with PIIC 

which required collateral to secure ARI's indebtedness].) PIIC contends it is owed more than $8 

million on Janice's guaranty of the obligations of PIIC, such that the approximate $663,000 PIIC 

is to receive from the sale proceeds of the Property is a small percentage of the total debt PIIC 

claims is outstanding. (Janice RJN Exh. D [FAC ¶ 46 ("PIIC has demanded that alleged 

Indemnitor Janice provide cash collateral of $8,596,155 to PIIC to cover actual and anticipated 

losses on the Bonds.")].)  

Janice's Request for Judicial Notice 

Janice requests the Court take judicial notice of a number of pleadings in support of her 

opposition, one of which is an order issued in the Family Law court in Janice and Larry 

Alamillo's dissolution in a dispute regarding Larry's payment of amounts due Janice. (Janice 

RJN Exh. A.) The Moving Parties object to Exhibit A based on relevance, and the Court 

sustains the objection to Exhibit A.  

The Court will take judicial notice of the other documents requested by Janice, consistent with 

the rules and limitations on judicial notice. (See StorMedia Inc. v. Superior Court (1999) 20 

Cal.4th 449, 456, fn. 9 [court may take judicial notice of documents on demurrer, but "the 

truthfulness and proper interpretation of the document are disputable."]; C.R. v. Tenet 

Healthcare Corp. (2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 1094, 1103-1104 [judicial notice does not extend to 

the truthfulness of the contents of a document or the interpretation of the document where the 

truthfulness or interpretation is reasonably subject to dispute].) 

Standards Governing Request for Preliminary Injunction  

The decision to grant or deny a preliminary injunction "generally rests in the sound discretion of 

the trial court." (Millennium Rock Mortgage, Inc. v. T.D. Service Co. (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 804, 

808.) "In determining whether to issue a preliminary injunction, the trial court considers two 

related factors: (1) the likelihood that the plaintiff will prevail on the merits of its case at trial, and 

(2) the interim harm that the plaintiff is likely to sustain if the injunction is denied as compared to 

the harm that the defendant is likely to suffer if the court grants a preliminary injunction. [Citation 

omitted.]" (Id.) (See also White v. Davis (2003) 30 Cal.4th 528, 554; Butt v. State of California 

(1992) 4 Cal.4th 668, 677-678.)  

Under the second, "balance of harms" factor, courts have expressed the showing required "in 

various linguistic formulations, such as the inadequacy of legal remedies or the threat of 

irreparable injury (compare Civ. Code, § 3422 with Code Civ. Proc., § 526)." (Tahoe Keys 

Property Owners' Assn. v. State Water Resources Control Bd. (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1459, 

1471.) Under Code of Civil Procedure § 526(a)(2) and (a)(4), which authorizes the Court to 
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grant injunctive relief on a showing of great or irreparable injury when pecuniary compensation 

will not give adequate relief, "an irreparable injury is one for which either (1) its pecuniary value 

is not susceptible to monetary valuation, or (2) the item is so unique its loss deprives the 

possessor of intrinsic values not replaceable by money or in kind. (Jessen v. Keystone Sav. & 

Loan Assn. (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 454, 457.) 

"The moving party must prevail on both factors to obtain an injunction." (Pittsburg Unified School 

Dist. v. S.J. Amoroso Construction Co., Inc. (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 808, 813-814.) The party 

seeking the preliminary injunction has the burden of showing all elements necessary to support 

its issuance. (O’Connell v. Superior Court (Valenzuela) (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1452, 1481.)  

The parties dispute whether the preliminary injunction sought by Plaintiffs is mandatory or 

prohibitory, since a mandatory injunction generally requires the party seeking the injunction to 

clearly establish its right to the relief and irreparable injury from denial of the injunction.  

(Davenport v. Blue Cross of California (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 435, 448.) "[T]he general rule is 

that an injunction is prohibitory if it requires a person to refrain from a particular act and 

mandatory if it compels performance of an affirmative act that changes the position of the 

parties. [Citations omitted.] The substance of the injunction, not the form, determines whether it 

is mandatory or prohibitory. [Citation omitted.]" (Davenport v. Blue Cross of California, supra, 52 

Cal.App.4th at 446-447.)  

In some instances, the status quo is considered the state of affairs when the motion for relief is 

sought; in others, courts have defined the status quo as "the last actual peaceable, uncontested 

status which preceded the pending controversy." (Daly v. San Bernardino Co. Bd. of 

Supervisors (2021) 11 Cal. 5th 1030, 1045-1046 [quoting United Railroads v. Superior Court 

(1916) 172 Cal. 80, 87, [internal quotation marks omitted].) In its recent decision in Daly v. San 

Bernardino Co. Bd. of Supervisors, supra, 11 Cal. 5th 1030, the California Supreme Court 

recognized the distinction between mandatory and prohibitory injunctions can be difficult to 

draw, but that the feature that distinguishes a mandatory injunction is that it "commands some 

change in the parties' positions." (Id. at 1041.) Where the injunction is prohibitory in nature, the 

fact the injunction requires some affirmative acts incidental to the restraint prohibiting certain 

conduct does not make the injunction a mandatory injunction, as the Court explained based on 

the Court's statements to that effect in United Railroads v. Superior Court (1916) 172 Cal. 80: 

The observation in United Railroads remains true, as far as it 

goes. For example, an order prohibiting a defendant from using a 

particular trade name might incidentally require the defendant to 

remove the name from its signage; the incidental steps required to 

take the trade name out of circulation does not convert what is 

essentially a prohibitory injunction into a mandatory one. (See 

Jaynes v. Weickman (1921) 51 Cal.App. 696, 699–700; see also 

People v. Mobile Magic Sales, Inc. (1979) 96 Cal.App.3d 1, 5 

[defendant was ordered to refrain from displaying mobilehome 

models for sale at a mobilehome park; requiring the defendant to 

remove the mobilehomes currently on display did not render the 
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injunction mandatory].) But here, the requirement to remove Rowe 

from the Third District supervisor position and seat the Governor's 

replacement cannot plausibly be described as merely incidental to 

other aspects of the order; it was not a necessary means to a 

prohibitory end, but the end in itself. Under the circumstances, any 

prohibitory elements in the order might better be described as 

incidental to the mandatory, rather than vice versa. 

(Id. at 1047.) 

The "last peaceable uncontested status" of the parties is arguably the status the parties 

occupied the day before Janice sent her September 17, 2021 demand to NAT, disrupting the 

scheduled closing of the sale. The Moving Parties are seeking to prevent Janice from interfering 

with the sale and the closing; they argue they are seeking a prohibitory injunction to restrain her 

from continuing her illegal or wrongful acts in claiming rights she does not have to consent and 

to sale proceeds and in acting adversely to the LLC in which she is a member, in breach of her 

fiduciary duties. The rescission of the demand, they contend, is incidental to the prohibition on 

the continuation of her unlawful or wrongful conduct, similar to the incidental requirement that a 

defendants restrained in Jaynes v. Weickman (1921) 51 Cal.App. 696 and People v. Mobile 

Magic Sales, Inc. (1979) 96 Cal.App.3d 1 who had to remove signage or mobile homes as acts 

incidental to the prohibition on use of a trade name or sale of mobile homes at a mobile home 

park in those cases.  

Whether the injunction sought in this case is mandatory or prohibitory, the Court finds Plaintiffs 

have made a sufficient showing of their right to relief, even if a higher level of proof is required 

because the injunction is mandatory.  

Analysis 

A. Likelihood Plaintiffs Will Prevail on the Merits of Their Claims 

 

Plaintiffs contend they have demonstrated that they are likely to prevail on their three primary 

substantive claims against Janice. For purposes of the preliminary injunction motion, the facts 

show the LLC has a valid contract for sale of the Property with a third party buyer, that Janice 

knew of the existence of the contract, that Janice engaged in intentional conduct to disrupt the 

contractual relationship, unless she receives a payment of the sales proceeds from escrow, that 

Janice's conduct disrupted the contractual relationship because the LLC was not able to 

complete the sale by the September 20, 2021 scheduled closing or during the two months 

following, and that the LLC has sustained damage as a result, including debt service and 

insurance payments coming due, and the potential loss of the buyer. (Quelimane Co. v. Stewart 

Title Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 55 [stating elements].) The primary purpose of the defendant's 

conduct does not need to be disruption of the contract to constitute an intentional interference 

with contractual relations. (Id. at 56.) 

The Plaintiffs contend Janice has breached fiduciary duties she owes to the LLC as one of its 

members, as set forth in Corporations Code § 17704.09. Those duties require her to "refrain 
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from dealing with the limited liability company in the conduct . . . of the activities of the limited 

liability company as . . . a person having an interest adverse to the limited liability company," to 

refrain "from engaging in grossly negligent or reckless conduct, intentional misconduct, or a 

knowing violation of law," and to "discharge the duties to a limited liability company and the 

other members  . . . and exercise any rights consistent with the obligation of good faith and fair 

dealing." (Corp. Code §§ 17704.09(b)(2), 17704.09(c), and 17704.09(d).) Facts showing Janice 

engaged in intentional acts to disrupt the LLC's sale of its Property to the detriment of the LLC at 

least make a prima facie showing of a breach of those duties, particularly where the evidence 

shows there are no net sale proceeds going to the LLC and that all sale proceeds are being 

used by the LLC to pay secured liens against the Property.  

Plaintiffs contend they have also demonstrated a likelihood of prevailing on their slander of title 

claim, because the facts show that Janice, without privilege, published a false statement that 

has disparaged the LLC's title to the Property and caused it pecuniary loss. (Truck Ins. 

Exchange v. Bennett (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 75, 84 [stating elements and explaining with regard 

to a slander or disparagement of title claim, "What makes conduct actionable is not whether a 

defendant succeeds in casting a legal cloud on plaintiff's title, but whether the defendant could 

reasonably foresee that the false publication might determine the conduct of a third person 

buyer or lessee. [Citation omitted.] The thrust of the tort of disparagement or slander of title is 

protection from injury to the salability of property. [Citation omitted.]"].) Plaintiffs have arguably 

shown that Janice disparaged title to the LLC's Property by claiming she had a direct interest in 

the proceeds of the sale and had to consent to the sale in order for the LLC to complete the 

sale.  

Based on these claims, Plaintiffs seek preliminary injunctive relief under Code of Civil Procedure 

§§ 526(a)(2) and 526(a)(3). Code of Civil Procedure § 526(a)(2) allows the Court in its discretion 

to grant a preliminary injunction if "the commission or continuance of some act during the 

litigation would produce waste, or great or irreparable injury, to a party to the action." (Code Civ. 

Proc. § 526(a)(2).) Code of Civil Procedure § 526(a)(3) allows the Court to issue a preliminary 

injunction in its discretion when "a party to the action is doing, or threatens, or is about to do, or 

is procuring or suffering to be done, some act in violation of the rights of another party to the 

action respecting the subject of the action, and tending to render the judgment ineffectual." 

(Code Civ. Proc. § 526(a)(3).) (Memo. ISO Mot. p. 6, ll. 9-18.) 

In opposition to the motion, Janice offers her declaration attesting only to the LLC's Statement of 

Information filed with the Secretary of State showing the Larry/Janice Trust's membership 

interest. The other documents offered by Janice are pleadings and orders in her dissolution 

case and the Related Action.  

In opposition to the motion, Janice argues the LLC does not have the membership consent 

necessary to authorize the sale without her vote, and that Larry cannot vote the membership 

interest because of the Automatic Temporary Restraining Orders ("ATROS") issued in the 

dissolution proceeding in which Janice and Larry are parties. (Janice RJN Exh. E.) Based on her 

demand to NAT, however, Janice appears to be willing to consent if she is paid what she 

contends is her 21.7% interest in the proceeds of the sale of the Property. (Joe Decl. Exh. D.) 
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She submits no evidence showing that she has a direct right to proceeds from the sale of the 

Property by the LLC (see Joe Decl. ¶ 21 ["Janice is not a debtor on the Property"], and Exh. E 

[title report]); she instead points to her allegations in an unverified FAC in the Related Action 

and the fact she disputes PIIC's rights under its indemnity agreement. (Opp. p. 15, ll. 1-21.)  

Janice also argues that the claims made are subject to the anti-SLAPP statute, Code of Civil 

Procedure § 425.16. The opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction is not a special 

motion to strike. Any issues and evidence she may raise in an anti-SLAPP motion are not before 

the Court in this motion.  

1. Janice's Rights in the Property and the LLC 

 

Neither Janice's demand to NAT nor her opposition to the preliminary injunction motion explains 

the basis for her demand, as a member of the LLC, for a "21.7 % interest in the proceeds" of the 

sale and her right to a "direct payment from the proceeds" based on her interest.  (Joe Decl. 

Exh. D [Janice 9/17/2021 demand to NAT.) The settlement statement shows there are no 

proceeds from the sale owed to the LLC based on the liens being paid through the sale. (Joe 

Decl. ¶ 25 and Exh. K.) 

The LLC is a separate legal entity which holds title to the Property. (Joe Decl. ¶¶ 3, 18, and 

Exhs. B [Operating Agreement § 5.5 [assets of the LLC shall be held in the name of the LLC] 

and E [title report]; Corp. Code §§ 17704.01(a) ["A limited liability company is an entity distinct 

from its members"] and 17701.05(e) [limited liability company has the power to "[s]ell, lease, 

exchange, transfer, convey, mortgage, pledge, or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its 

property and assets"].) There is no evidence that Janice has any title or ownership interest in the 

Property itself; Janice does not contest that her interest in the LLC and its Property is based on 

the Larry/Janice Trust's membership in the LLC and under the LLC Operating Agreement. 

(Janice Decl. ¶ 2 and Exh. A.) 

The interest Janice holds in the LLC is an indirect interest as a Co-Trustee of the Larry/Janice 

Trust, which holds a membership interest in the LLC, a personal property interest. (Holistic 

Supplements, LLC v. Stark (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 530, 542 [holding membership interest in 

limited liability company is personal property subject to claim for conversion, citing Corp. Code 

§§ 17701.02(r) ["membership interest" in LLC encompasses "member's rights in the [LLC], 

including the member's transferable interest"[, and 17705.01 ["transferable interest" in LLC is 

"personal property"], among other provisions].) Because she has no title or ownership interest in 

the real property being sold, there is no evidence she has any direct right to the proceeds of the 

sale of the Property, except through a distribution of assets of the limited liability company 

shared by all members. (Corp. Code §§ 17704.04 and 17704.05; Joe Decl. Exh. B [Op. Agmt. 

Article IV].) In addition, there is no evidence before the Court that the Larry/Janice Trust 

membership interest is being sold or disposed of as a result of the members simply voting to 

approve the LLC's sale of its real estate asset.  

2. Larry's Right to Vote the Membership Interest in Favor of the LLC's Sale 
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The Moving Parties argue alternative theories of why the LLC can proceed with the sale of the 

Property without Janice Alamillo's consent. They contend (a) Joe Alamillo alone can decide to 

sell the Property for the LLC under his authority to enter into or execute contracts for the LLC 

under § 5.1 of the Operating Agreement (Joe Decl. ¶¶ 5, 21, and Exh. B [Op. Agmt, § 5.1]); (b) 

the sale requires only a Majority of Members to vote in favor of the sale under the same section 

of the Operating Agreement as the sale is a management decision, and therefore the vote of the 

other members (Joe/Jean Trust and Brett Alamillo) provides the majority necessary to authorize 

the sale (Joe Decl. Exh. B. [Op. Agmt. § 5.1]); or (c) even if the Larry/Janice Trust must consent, 

Larry Alamillo alone has the authority to vote the Larry/Janice Trust's membership interest in 

favor of the sale under the 2014 Amendment to the Larry/Janice Trust (Joe Decl. ¶ 24 and Exh. 

J.) They also argue the Automatic Temporary Restraining Orders ("ATROS") issued in 

connection with the dissolution does not apply to prevent Larry from voting the membership 

interest in favor of the LLC's sale of the Property. (Janice RJN Exh. F.) 

a. The Operating Agreement  

 

That Joe Alamillo may be able to sign contracts for the LLC does not mean Joe Alamillo alone 

can make decisions on the management of the LLC or the disposition of its assets. Such an 

interpretation of § 5.1 would render meaningless the provisions for members to vote on 

management and other decisions in §§ 5.1 and 7.1. The Operating Agreement does not clearly 

delineate when the "Majority of Members" versus the "Supermajority of Members" is required to 

vote on proposed actions by the LLC. (Joe Decl. Exh. B [Op. Agmt. §§ 5.1 and 7.1].) A 

"Supermajority" is defined as more than 66% of the membership interests. (Joe Decl. Exh. B 

[Op. Agmt. § 1.30].) 

Janice argues that the decision to sell the Property is not a "management" decision, but cites no 

authority to support that position. She contends that a "Supermajority of Members" is required to 

vote in favor of the sale to authorize the LLC's sale of the Property. (Opp. pp. 12-13.) She 

contends that because Janice opposes the sale, unless she receives a 21.7% share of the 

proceeds, and "Larry's inability to vote" based on the ATROS, the LLC does not have the 

necessary Supermajority. 

In their Reply, the Moving Parties argue that even if a Supermajority of Members is required to 

vote for the sale under § 7.1, a Supermajority has voted for the sale because Larry voted in 

favor of the sale. Janice has taken the position that she holds a 21.7% membership interest in 

the LLC in her opposition pleadings and in her demand to NAT. (See Joe Decl Exh. D [Janice 

9/17/2020 Demand to NAT].) They argue Larry holds a 21.53% interest in the LLC (the 

Larry/Janice Trust holds a 43.06% interest in the LLC, so mathematically half that interest is 

21.53%, not 21.7%). They argue even if Larry cannot vote Janice's share of the Trust's interest, 

he can and has voted his share of the Trust's interest in favor of the sale which, with the 

interests of Joe/Jean and Brett totals over 78% interests favoring the sale, exceeding the 66% 

percent Supermajority of Members threshold. Given Janice's position that she holds a separate 

21.7% interest in the LLC (Joe Decl. Exh. D [Janice 9/17/2021 demand to NAT]), this argument 

suggests that Larry's interest in the membership should be treated similarly and that he could 
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vote his interest in support of the sale to allow the LLC, achieving the Supermajority unless the 

ATROS prevents Larry from voting the membership as Janice contends. 

b. Larry's Right to Act Alone for the Larry/Janice Trust 

 

Plaintiffs point to the provisions of the 2014 Amendment to the Larry/Janice Trust as well as 

Family Code § 1100(d) which they contend demonstrate that Larry alone has the right and 

power to vote in favor of the LLC's sale of the Property because the membership interest being 

voted is managed by Larry and is personal property. The gist of Janice's claims pleaded in her 

FAC is that Larry and other family members control the management of various corporations 

and other entities, including the LLC and that they have conspired together along with several 

third party entities to reduce the value of her interests in ARI and the other companies. She 

implicitly and explicitly alleges Larry has controlled and managed the community's interests in 

these businesses.  

Under amended Section 20 of the Larry/Janice Trust, "A Trustee who is serving as a Co-Trustee 

and managing a business may act alone, sell, exchange, encumber or otherwise dispose of that 

business in accordance with Family Code § 1100(d) if the business is part of the community." 

(Joe Decl. ¶ 24 and Exh. J.) Family Code § 1100(d) also provides in relevant part, "a spouse 

who is operating or managing a business or an interest in a business that is all or substantially 

all community personal property has the primary management and control of the business or 

interest." (Fam. Code § 1100(d) [emphasis added].) If that provision applies, then the statute 

gives the spouse managing the interest in the business the right "to act alone in all transactions" 

so long as prior written notice of a disposition is given to the other spouse. (Id.) These 

provisions apply here. As set forth above, the interest held by the community is a personal 

property interest. The evidence shows Janice was given the notice required under Family Code 

§ 1100(d) by Larry in his role as the manager of the interest in the business. (Joe Decl. ¶ 19 and 

Exh. C.) Larry's voting the membership interest is consistent with and authorized by the 2014 

Amendment and Family Code § 1100(d), unless as Janice contends the ATROS prevents him 

from voting the membership interest. 

c. Effect of ATROS and Family Code § 2040(a)(2) 

 

The ATROS issued in connection with the dissolution prohibits the transfer, sale or disposition 

by either spouse of real or personal property that is community property. (Janice RJN Exh. E.) 

The ATROS is issued routinely when dissolution proceedings commence follows the statutory 

authority of Family Code § 2040(a)e which sets forth the provisions that shall be included in a 

temporary restraining order in the summons issued on a dissolution petition.  

The LLC is a separate legal entity and the owner and title holder of the Property. The 

Larry/Janice Trust does not have a title or ownership interest in the Property. The LLC itself and 

the LLC's Property subject to the sale is not community property. The Larry/Janice Trust 

membership interest is the community property interest. 
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The Larry/Janice Trust is not selling or transferring its property or membership interest in the 

LLC. The Trust is simply voting for or against proposed actions by the LLC regarding the LLC's 

Property. Janice has cited no authority that the ATROS prohibits a spouse from exercising 

voting rights in an entity where the membership or shareholder interest is a community property 

asset. The ATROS provisions relied on by Janice by their terms only apply to the disposition of 

the community property but do not state that the spouses are precluded from exercising 

incidental voting or other rights related to the community property asset. The ATROS provisions 

cited by Janice by their terms do not preclude Larry or the Trust from voting their membership 

interest in the LLC to approve the LLC's conduct of its business.  

3. Janice's Objections to the Sale Unless She Receives Direct Proceeds from 

the Sale at Closing 

 

Setting aside the issue of consent to the sale, the only substantive argument Janice makes for 

why the sale is objectionable is that she objects to proceeds of sale being paid to PIIC based on 

her allegations in her FAC that she was defrauded into signing her guaranty of the amounts 

owed PIIC under the General Indemnity Agreement with ARI. (Opp. p. 15, ll. 2-21.) As Janice 

explains in her Opposition, she does not contend PIIC did not issue surety bonds for ARI's 

construction projects. She does not contend that PIIC does not hold a deed of trust on the 

Property granted by the LLC. Rather, she argues that she was misled into signing her guaranty 

of the PIIC obligations because PIIC "hid" that Joe and Jean's potential liability on their guaranty 

was for a lesser amount than her guaranty rather than for the same amount. (Opp. p. 15, ll. 11-

17.) She therefore contends PIIC's claims to the proceeds of the pending sale, as well as a prior 

sale by another limited liability company that already closed, "are invalid as to her interest in 

these properties." (Opp. p. 15, ll. 17-19.) Her position is not supported by any evidence. Her 

unverified FAC alleging fraud and other claims is not evidence that her claims regarding the 

PIIC guaranty have merit.  

Further, even if Janice is a co-obligor and signatory on the ARI guaranty and that guaranty is 

secured by the deed of trust on the Property, and even if her guaranty of the obligation were 

voided, Janice does not explain how that would entitle ARI and the LLC to void their obligations 

to PIIC or the deed of trust granted to PIIC on the Property. The amount PIIC is expected to be 

paid on the deed of trust from the LLC's sale of the Property is not close to the amount PIIC 

claims is owed under the General Indemnity Agreement as Janice has alleged PIIC claims it is 

owed over $8.5 million. (Janice RJN Exh. G [FAC ¶ 46].)  

4. The "Core" of the Action 

 

Janice also argues that the action "at its core" is a quiet title action. She contends the quiet title 

statutes and procedures therefore apply and must be met by the Moving Parties. The Court 

disagrees. For the reasons set forth, there is no legal or factual basis for Janice to claim a direct 

ownership or title interest in the real property, as she herself only presents evidence of her 

membership interest in the LLC through the Larry/Janice Trust. (Janice Decl. ¶ 2 and Exh. A.) 
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Further, there is no dispute among the parties that Janice has a membership interest in the LLC 

through the Larry/Janice Trust.  

5. Conclusion 

  

On the record on the motion, the Moving Parties have shown a probability of prevailing on the 

merits of their claims of intentional interference with the LLC's sale of Property, and breach of 

her fiduciary duties to the LLC by asserting intentionally or recklessly claims adverse to the 

LLC's interests not well-founded or substantially justified by the facts or law regarding her rights 

and interests as a member of the LLC. It is less clear to the Court that Janice has disparaged 

the LLC's title to the Property, though Janice herself seems to contend she has an ownership or 

title interest in the Property and therefore a right to proceeds that is contrary to the Operating 

Agreement and the law applicable to the LLC and its members.  

The Moving Parties have shown that (a) a Majority of Members voted for the sale, and if a 

Supermajority of Members is required, Larry's vote in favor for his share of the Larry/Janice 

Trust supports the membership's authorization to sell; (b) Larry has the authority to vote the 

community's interest in the membership of the LLC under the 2014 amendment to the 

Larry/Janice Trust and under Family Code § 1100(d); and (c) Janice has no ownership or title 

interest in the Property, and her community interest in the LLC is a personal property interest in 

the membership, not in the real property owned by the LLC. Further, nothing in the record on the 

motion shows the Larry/Janice Trust membership interest in the LLC is being sold or disposed 

of, such that the ATROS does not restrain Larry from merely voting a membership interest in the 

LLC in favor of the LLC's proposed business decision to sell the LLC's Property.  

Janice's demand to NAT is based on her assertion the sale cannot proceed without her consent, 

which the Court does not find to be true. She also asserts she is entitled to a direct payment of 

21.7% of the proceeds of the sale at closing. Since she has no direct ownership or title interest 

in the Property, and since members of an LLC only have a right to distributions made by the 

LLC under Corporations Code §§ 17704.04 and 17704.5, her position in that regard is also not 

well-founded on the record before the Court on the motion.  

Balance of Harms 

The Moving Parties have presented evidence that the failure of the sale to close has resulted in 

potentially serious adverse consequences and risks for the LLC's interests in the Property, 

including a default on the mortgage on the Property held by First Northern which could subject 

the LLC to initiation of foreclosure proceedings, potential cancellation of insurance, the return of 

funds by NAT to the lender when the sale did not close by September 27, 2021, and the 

potential loss of the buyer and collapse of the sale. (Joe Decl. ¶ 27; Joe Suppl. Decl. ¶¶ 2-8 and 

Exhs. M-P.) Generally, injury that can be compensated by monetary damages is not considered 

the type of great or irreparable injury required for injunctive relief; however, the circumstances of 

the case suggest the possible injuries to the LLC will be difficult to compensate with monetary 

damages if the sale falls through, the LLC loses the buyer, and the Property could be subject to 
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foreclosure initiating by a senior lienholder. (See Joe Alamillo Decl. ¶ 27; Joe Suppl. Decl. ¶ 5 

and Exh. P; Code Civ. Proc. § 526(a)(2).)  

The potential ripple effect of the loss of the buyer on the liens encumbering the Property and the 

LLC's ability to pay its other obligations, as well as the impact of the time delay, costs and other 

consequences of attempting to find another buyer if this one is lost, pose risks and uncertainties 

that may be very difficult to quantify in monetary terms, calculate, and compensate the LLC 

through monetary damages. The injury to the LLC caused by the interference and violation of 

her fiduciary duties may make any relief eventually granted on the merits of the action 

ineffectual if the LLC loses its real property to foreclosure by a senior lienholder as appears to 

be threatened. 

On balance, Janice in opposition to the motion has not presented evidence that she will suffer 

any harm if the injunction is issued and the sale is allowed to close. The payoff of debt owed by 

the LLC to its creditors is not a harm, and Janice has not even suggested the liens against the 

Property other than PIIC's debt are not bona fide and due and owing. It is hard for the Court to 

find the satisfaction of debt of the LLC through the sale is a detriment to Janice. The only debt 

she appears to contest is PIIC's claim. Janice has not shown by any evidence that even if she 

prevailed on her alleged fraud and other claims against PIIC, the result would be to invalidate 

PIIC's deed of trust on the Property granted by the LLC, and that the LLC would no longer be 

indebted to PIIC. 

At most, on this record, Janice's alleged harm would be not receiving the 21.7% share she 

claims of the amounts being paid to PIIC from the sale. That harm under the totality of the 

circumstances is far less than the harm the LLC and ARI may sustain if the sale is lost due to 

Janice's interference. The harm Janice might sustain can be protected through an undertaking 

posted as a condition to the issuance of the injunction.  

Janice also refers to the sale of real property by a different limited liability company, 325 West 

Channel Road, LLC, which closed. She argues any undertaking required if a preliminary 

injunction is issued should also account for her claim to 21.7% of the proceeds of that sale. 

Whatever issues or claims she has required that previous sale that concluded before this action 

was filed are not before the Court on this motion.  

Disposition 

The Moving Parties have shown to the Court's satisfaction that they are likely to prevail on the 

merits of their claims against Janice, that they will suffer great or irreparable harm if an 

injunction is not issued to prevent disruption of the sale of the Property, and that the balance of 

harms favors granting the injunction. Therefore, the Court orders that defendant Janice Alamillo 

is hereby ordered (1) to refrain from interfering with the sale of the real property located at 361 

W. Channel Road, Benicia, California (the "Property"), including, but not limited to, 

communicating with third parties regarding requirements of the LLC and/or making demands on 

third parties that are inconsistent with the actions of the LLC; (2) to immediately contact North 

American Title company and withdraw previous demands made upon it in relation to the sale of 

the Property including, but  not limited to, withdrawing the letters dated September 17, 2021, 
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authored by counsel Brendan Dooley; and (3) to immediately retract their threat of legal action 

against North American Title company.  As a condition of this order, Plaintiffs are to post an 

undertaking of $150,000 under Code of Civil Procedure § 529.  Plaintiffs are directed to prepare 

an order in accordance with this ruling. 

The amount of the undertaking reflects the approximate 21.7% share of the proceeds of the sale 

to be paid to PIIC, plus estimated interest that may accrue on that amount during the time that 

may elapse before the action is resolved.  

Though the Court finds it appropriate to issue the requested injunction, the Court is cognizant 

that the preliminary injunction may not assure that the pending sale is completed. Plaintiffs point 

out that lender funds were returned by NAT and the buyer has expressed concern regarding 

proceeding with the sale. The Court cannot resolve those potential risks which may remain 

despite the Court granting the preliminary injunction. 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-0946 
CASE NAME: ARCHITECTURAL PRESERVATION VS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR CONSOLIDATE CASES N17-0946 & N21-1944 
FILED BY ARCHITECTURAL PRESERVATION FOUNDATION OF, M CHRISTINE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Petitioners move to consolidate this matter with a newly-filed matter (N21-01944).  Each 

case is brought by the Architectural Preservation Foundation of Contra Costa County and 

Harland Strickland.  This case (N17-0946) also is brought by M. Kristine Carlock. 

Petitioners filed the motion to consolidate on October 27, 2021, and the clerk assigned a 

hearing date of December 2, 2021.  Thus, petitioners needed to serve notice of the hearing date 

no later than 16 court days before the hearing, which was November 5, 2021.  They did not 

serve notice of the hearing until November 14 (electronically) and November 15, 2021 

(personally).  In reply, Petitioners assert that service was timely, because it was 17 days before 

the hearing.  Code of Civil Procedure section 1005(b), however, requires service 16 court days 

before the hearing.  Respondents oppose the motion on this ground, even though they filed a 

substantive opposition. 

Each case addresses approvals necessary for the proposed demolition of the old county 

jail.  This case was filed on May 17, 2017, challenging the County’s certification of an 

Environmental Impact Report for the project.  The administrative record has been certified and a 

briefing and hearing schedule have been set.  The new case was filed October 8, 2021.  It 

raises various allegations concerning CEQA compliance.  At this point, the Court cannot 

determine whether some of the issues raised could have been raised at the time of certification 

of the Environmental Impact Report and therefore are barred by the statute of limitations, or 

whether it raises new issues that were not triggered until the September, 2021 decision to 

demolish the old jail.  Other issues in the new case may be duplicative of those raised in this 

case. 
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While petitioners assert that the matters have the same record, the record in this case is 

limited to the record that led up to the certification of the Environmental Impact Report in April of 

2017.  More recent claims will involve the assembly of a different record involving more recent 

decisions.  Thus, the records will not be entirely the same. 

As to the stage of the proceedings, the new case is filed, but has not yet been answered.  

Indeed, it is the subject of a motion to strike set for December 9, 2021, in which the 

Respondents point out that there is no attorney listed on the pleadings, one of the petitioners is 

a corporation, and it is signed by an individual who is not an attorney.  When an individual 

person who is not an attorney appears on behalf of a corporation, either by filing papers or 

physically appearing in court, it constitutes unauthorized practice of law and therefore is not 

permitted.  (Merco Construction Engineers, Inc. v. Mun. Ct. (Sully Miller Contracting Co.) (1978) 

21 Cal.3d 724, 731.)  Ordinarily, however, such a case will not be dismissed, at least until an 

opportunity to obtain counsel has been provided.  (Gamel v. Blanchard (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 

1276, 1284; CLD Const., Inc. v. City of San Ramon (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 1141, 1149-1150.) 

The issues concerning appearance by a non-attorney and failure to properly notice the 

motion probably could be fixed through a short continuance. 

What cannot be fixed, however, is that this case is far ahead of the new case, is 

scheduled and ready for substantive briefing, and should be submitted to the Court for decision 

in about two months.  Consolidation will delay a decision on the claims in the first-filed case.  

The issues in the new case can be considered separately from this case. 

The motion to consolidate is denied. 

 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0241 
CASE NAME: LAFAYETTE VS. TOWN OF MORAGA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ATTORNEY FEES FILED BY LAFAYETTE 
BOLLINGER DEVEOPMENT LLC, DAVID BRUZZONE, JOAN BRUZZONE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Petitioners move for an award of attorney’s fees, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 

section 1021.5 and Government Code section 800(a).  Previously, they moved for an award of 

costs, and to Strike and Tax Costs of Respondent Town of Moraga.  Again, the Court must 

consider who is the “prevailing party,” among other things. 

A. Background  

 Of course, the parties are familiar with the claims raised in the case, but the relevant 

facts warrant restating.  Petitioners own a large tract in the Bollinger Canyon area of Moraga, 

which they have sought to develop with housing for decades.  This effort was hampered by the 

fact that the Town’s General Plan identified the property as a “study area,” as opposed to a 

more specific designation, e.g., housing or open space.  Ultimately, Petitioners submitted a 
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project development application for the area (including a proposed General Plan Amendment), 

which the Town denied.  The petition and complaint asserts five separate causes of action. 

The First Cause of Action was for “Uncompensated Temporary and Permanent Taking of 

Property – Inverse Condemnation.”  It alleged that due to a variety of circumstances, the delays 

in processing and final decisions with respect to the property constituted both temporary and 

permanent taking of property without just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment of 

the U.S. Constitution.  The Second Cause of Action was for “Violations of 41 U.S.C. § 1983,” 

based on due process and equal protection violations.  The Third Cause of Action was for a Writ 

of Mandate, based on violation of state planning and zoning law, arising from a variety of 

actions: failure to designate a land-use for the property in the General Plan, refusing to certify 

the EIR, rejection of the Project and alternatives, and application of the new Hillside regulations.  

The Fourth Cause of Action was for violation of CEQA, specifically that the Town applied the 

new Hillside Regulations to the property without complying with CEQA requirements with 

respect to the Hillside Regulations.  The Fifth Cause of action sought declaratory relief with 

respect to the legal validity of a wide variety of the Town’s actions.  In the Prayer for Relief, 

Petitioners sought a writ of mandate ordering the Town to revoke its denial of the project; and 

ordering compliance with CEQA in connection with the Project or application of the Hillside 

Regulations to it.  They also sought monetary damages for the temporary and permanent taking 

of property; a declaration that the town acted illegally, and orders preventing any further steps in 

pursuance of the denial of the project, including application of the 2018 Hillside Regulations to 

the project.  The Court cannot, however, simply compare the number of claims on which 

Petitioners prevailed with the number on which they did not prevail. 

While Petitioners raised a number of different legal theories, the gravamen of their 
petition is that the Town should have approved their most recent development application.  
Ultimately, the Court denied every request for relief, with one exception: failure to designate a 
land use for the area in question in the General Plan.  As to that issue, the Court found that 
“[g]iven all of the facts and circumstances, including the very long history of controversy about 
this site, the Court concludes that the Town has abused its discretion, and should be ordered by 
writ of mandate to adopt a general plan amendment designating the land use for this site.”   The 
Court also found that “[e]ven if the inadequacy of the Plan did not directly result in the denial of 
the project, the issue arises as to whether there is adequate reason, and adequate beneficial 
interest in the Petitioners, to justify writ relief directing the Town to adopt a plan amendment 
addressing the status of the Property.”   

B. Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 

Under section 1021.5, a court may award fees to a party where (1) the party was 

successful; (2) the party enforced an important right affecting the public interest; (3) the party 

conferred a significant, whether pecuniary or nonpecuniary, on the public; and (4) the necessity 

and financial burden of private enforcement makes an award appropriate. 

(1) Prevailing Party 

The Court did find that Petitioners had a sufficient beneficial interest to warrant writ relief, 

and Petitioners did prevail in this respect.  But Petitioners’ goal in the litigation was to get their 
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development proposal approved, not simply to achieve a General Plan land use designation.  

The land use designation was simply one of a number of possible roadblocks to approval of a 

development.  It not clear that compliance with the writ will result in approval of a development 

proposal for the property.  Petitioners did not, in an overall sense, prevail in the action. 

A party may be deemed prevailing for purposes of attorney’s fees where it prevails only 

partially.  A party is considered successful “for attorney’s fee purposes if they succeed on any 

significant issue in litigation which achieves some of the benefit of the parties sought.” (Maria P. 

v. Riles (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1281, 1292, quoting Hensley v. Eckerhart (198) 461 U.S. 424, 433.     

Petitioners did prevail on one claim, and therefore the other portions of the statute must 

be considered. 

(2) Public Interest 

The issuance of a writ of mandate compelling the Respondent to make changes to the 

General Plan enforces an important right affecting the public interest.  The requirements of the 

General Plan exist to benefit the entire community, not merely the affected property owner. 

(Starbird v. County of San Benito (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 657, 665.)  

(3) Benefit to the Public 

For similar reasons, the writ of mandate benefits the general public.  Although the court 

held in Pacific Legal Foundation v. California Coastal Com. (1982) 33 Cal.3d 158, 167, that a 

decision favoring “only the rights of the owners of a single parcel of property” does not confer a 

significant benefit on a large class of persons, compliance with the overall requirements of the 

general plan statute has benefit to the public at large. 

(4) Necessity and Financial Burden of Private Enforcement 

 Generally, a party meets this test when it shows that “the cost of the claimant’s legal 

victory transcends his [or her] personal interest, that is, when the necessity for pursuing the 

lawsuit placed a burden on the [claimant] out of proportion to his [or her] individual stake in the 

matter.”  (Woodland Hills Residents Assn., Inc. v. City Council (1979) 23 Cal. 3d 917, 941.)  

Petitioners assert that they did not receive any direct financial benefit from the case, and 

therefore this criterion is satisfied.  This requires the court to compare “the litigant’s private 

interests with the anticipated costs of suit.” (California Licensed Foresters Assn. v. State Bd. of 

Forestry (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th, 562, 570.  See also Conservatorship of Whitley (2010) 50 Cal. 

4th 1206, 1215 [court should approximate “the estimated value of the case at the time the vital 

litigation decisions were being made[.]”)    (Code of Civil Procedure section 1032 does not 

contain a “necessity and financial burden of private enforcement” provision, therefore cases 

concerning who is a prevailing party under that statute, such as Friends of Spring Street v. 

Nevada City (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 1092, are not dispositive of the issue.) 

Petitioners contend that the Court may consider only whether they received “a direct 

monetary gain by prevailing in the case.” (Plumbers and Steamfitters, Local 290 v. Duncan 

(2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 1083, 1098, 1099 [union and its members did not directly benefit from 
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order increasing compensation for non-union workers].  See also Galante Vineyards v. 

Monterey Peninsula Water Mgmt. Dist. (1997) 60 Cal.App.4th 1109 [no cognizable pecuniary 

benefit where interest in avoiding further delay and expense is “indirect, uncertain, and 

quantitatively speculative[.]”])  A number of courts, however, have found disqualifying pecuniary 

benefit in the context of land-use approvals that had a substantial effect on the use of real 

property, without any specific showing of the actual amount of the benefit.  (Norberg v. Cal. 

Coastal Comm’n (2013) 221 Cal. App. 4th 535, 545 [coastal commission permit challenge 

enabled property owner to build improvements that enhanced the value of his property; no 

actual determination of the  amount of financial benefit; Edna Valley Watch v. County of San 

Luis Obispo (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 1312, 1321 [remand to determine petitioner’s pecuniary 

benefit from stopping project in CEQA action]; Jobe v. City of Orange, supra, 88 Cal.App.4th at 

419 [non-profit private school defended permits that it allowed it to expand facility].) 

Petitioners contend that they receive no direct benefit from the writ as issued, because it 

is speculative as to whether it will result in any change in the permitted development on their 

property.  But Petitioners clearly had a substantial financial stake in the outcome of the litigation, 

one more than sufficient to justify bringing the case, based on the potential value of 

development, and the damages requested under the “taking” theory. (This is so even if, as 

Petitioners point out in their reply, even if they had prevailed, the likely result would have been a 

remand to the Town, not an order to approve a particular development proposal.)  Financial 

incentive is judged by “the estimated value of the case at the time the vital litigation decisions 

were being made.”  (Whitley, supra, 50 Cal.4th at 1215.)  Thus, the issue must be considered in 

the light of whether Petitioners had a pecuniary interest in pursuing the action as a whole, not 

just the General Plan land-use designation claim.  The fact that the one claim on which 

Petitioners did prevail turns out to be one from which it may not receive a direct pecuniary 

benefit is not material, because Petitioners clearly had a substantial financial interest in the 

entire case.  

C. Government Code Section 800 

Under Government Code section 800(a), “In any civil action to appeal or review the 

award, finding, or other determination of any administrative proceeding under this code or under 

any other provision of state law… if it is shown that the award, finding, or other determination 

was the result of arbitrary or capricious action or conduct by a public entity or an officer thereof 

in his or her official capacity, the complaint if he or she prevails in the civil action may collect 

from the public entity reasonable attorney’s fees, …not to exceed seven thousand five hundred 

dollars ($7,500), if he or she is personally obligated to pay the fees[.]” 

Respondents point out that this section has been held to apply only to decisions of 

administrative law judges, or where the party has been denied the right to an administrative 

hearing.  (Kistler v. Redwood Com. College Dist.  (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1326, 1336.)  

Accordingly, the section does not apply.   

In addition, the Court did not find that the failure to adopt a land use designation for the 

property in the General Plan was arbitrary or capricious, particularly with respect to the entire 
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40-year history.  It did find that that “the Town has abused its discretion by failing to designate a 

land use for the subject area.”  This, however, falls short of finding the action “arbitrary or 

capricious.” 

D. Conclusion 

The motion for fees is denied. 

 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN21-1944 
CASE NAME: ARCHITECTURAL PRESERVATION VS. 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: SEE RELATED CASE MSN17-0946 SET BY DEPT. 
39 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 15. 

 


